

MASTER'S THESIS - ENERGY SCIENCE

Comparing hydrogen networks and electricity grids for transporting offshore wind energy to shore in the North Sea region. A spatial network optimisation approach.

Supervisors: Prof. Gert Jan Kramer (Utrecht University) PhD cand. Jan Wiegner (Utrecht University) Dr Durgesh Kawale (TNO) Dr Joris Koornneef (TNO) Author: Steffan Brosschot

July 2022

Preface

From August 2021 to July 2022 I undertook an internship with TNO in the Subsurface Energy Transition Team, completing two projects. The first phase was completing data collection on the North Sea, while the second phase (this thesis) was developing a hydrogen network optimisation model. This marks the end of my time at TNO. I would like to thank everyone at TNO and the North Sea Energy programme for giving me the platform to frame my own project and deepen my knowledge on offshore wind and hydrogen in the North Sea. Specifically, I would like to thank Durgesh Kawale for his supervision over the last year, and always finding a way to dissect and reframe a problem in an understandable way. Also thanks to my other, ever-enthusiastic supervisor, Joris Koornneef for consistently bringing great energy to your work.

From Utrecht University, I would like to express my gratitude Jan Wiegner for your support, overall friendliness, and readiness to help. You made this thesis very enjoyable. Thank you to Gert Jan Kramer for steering the research from a broad, holistic view, and providing useful criticism. I would also like to express my gratitude for Patrycja Enet from the European MSP Platform, the knowledge and liveliness you brought was much appreciated.

I also wish to thank my friends and fellow students. Specifically Noelia, thank you for listening to me speak about hydrogen for a year, and cleverly distracting me when I needed a break from the work. Ruben, your ability to understand my coding problem and near-instantly send a solution is unmatched. Thank you. And lastly, thanks to David from TU Delft. It was a pleasure to discuss the similarities and intricacies of our work over the last few months.

This thesis finalises my time as an Energy Science master student at Utrecht University. I have enjoyed every second of it. Please enjoy the read.

Abstract

In the North Sea (NS), offshore wind farm (OWF) capacity is expected to explode in the coming years to support decarbonisation goals. To bring these vast amounts of energy to shore, offshore hydrogen production and transportation to shore via pipelines is seen to be a plausible solution. Previous literature has investigated spatially explicit hydrogen networks in the Dutch extended economic zone (EEZ). However, capacitated networks were not considered. This research builds on the previous literature and addresses the following: 1) the effects of spatial complexity and reuse of oil & gas (O&G) infrastructure on networks, 2) the properties of a fully interconnected NS network and 3) a comparison between hydrogen networks and electricity grids.

A three-part model was devised; creating cost surfaces, generating candidate networks and finding optimal network layouts. A cost surface is created using PyQGIS, assigning weighing values to spatial uses in the NS. Using these cost surfaces, candidate networks (PyQGIS) are generated by running least cost paths between sources (offshore hydrogen supply points), sinks (onshore hydrogen demand points), and existing network infrastructure in the NS. Finally, the optimal network layout model (Python) is used to find capacitated infrastructure networks. Costs are calculated in post-processing, finding the network and system levelised costs of hydrogen (LCOH).

The results show that including spatial complexity increases capacity-lengths by 50% - 90% compared to a greenfield approach, as the network routes around high 'cost' spatial uses. Reusing infrastructure leads to cost savings of 40% for hydrogen networks, as 84% of the network consists of reusing existing O&G infrastructure at low costs. Smaller savings are seen for electricity grids (5%), as only cable corridors can be reused, which do have a low cost saving. Interconnected networks are 38% (hydrogen) to 58% (electricity) larger when compared to isolated networks. Careful planning of interconnection is required to avoid overinvestments in capacity between countries. The interconnected network costs of hydrogen networks range between 14 - 21 B€, while electricity grids range between 87 - 116 B€. In a system context, the difference in LCOH between all scenarios is small, between 1.95 and 2.15 €/kg, suggesting that offshore hydrogen is competitive in 2040.

Based on this study, recommendations can be given. Firstly, extending the scope of the onshore onshore hydrogen backbones to offshore can provide significant cost savings by reusing infrastructure. To facilitate this, regulatory support is needed for integrating O&G infrastructure with OWF and energy islands, as it is currently lacking. Investigating the interactions between spatial uses and network planning can feed marine/maritime spatial planning in order to define large interconnected corridors across EEZs for future installations of infrastructure. These corridors could allow sensible interconnection between countries, avoiding unharmonised networks. Finally, future research should widen the optimisation scope to consider onshore connections and dynamic hydrogen supply and demand, leading to more accurate representations of offshore connections in the NS, while avoiding unnecessary costs in overcapacitated connections.

Contents

Fi	gure	es and tables	8		
A	bbre	viations	10		
1	Intr	troduction			
2	Lite	erature review	14		
	2.1	Gaps in offshore power to hydrogen studies	14		
	2.2	Hydrogen networks	16		
	2.3	Spatial network optimisation	16		
	2.4	Research gaps	18		
	2.5	Research questions	18		
	2.6	Report structure	18		
3	The	eoretical background	19		
	3.1	Cost surface	19		
	3.2	Least cost pathways	19		
	3.3	Network optimisation	20		
4	Met	ethodology 2:			
	4.1	Model formulation	24		
		4.1.1 Cost surface model	25		
		4.1.2 Candidate networks model	27		
		4.1.3 Optimal network layout	32		
	4.2	Data collection	35		
		4.2.1 Spatial uses	35		
		4.2.2 Terminal nodes	37		
		4.2.3 Techno-economic data	41		
	4.3	Scenarios	43		
		4.3.1 System boundaries	43		
		4.3.2 Description of scenarios	45		
		4.3.3 Structure of scenarios	46		
	4.4	System costs	47		
5	Res	sults	48		
0	5.1	Spatial complexity	49		
	5.2	Reusing existing infrastructure	52		
	5.3	Isolated networks	53		
	0.0		00		

	5.4	Leveli	sed cost of hydrogen	
	5.5	Sensit	ivity analysis	
		5.5.1	Sensitivity scenarios	
		5.5.2	Sensitivity analysis results	
6	Dis	cussior	n 63	
	6.1	Result	s63	
		6.1.1	System costs	
		6.1.2	Spatial complexity	
		6.1.3	Reusing infrastructure	
		6.1.4	Interconnection between countries	
	6.2	Limita	ations $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	
		6.2.1	Cost surface and least cost paths	
		6.2.2	Optimal network layout	
		6.2.3	Existing infrastructure	
		6.2.4	System boundaries and scenarios	
7	Cor	Conclusions and recommendations		
	7.1	Concl	usions	
	7.2	Recon	$nmendations \dots \dots$	
R	efere	nces	81	
\mathbf{A}	ppen	dix	96	
-	A	Model	s	
	В	Data	collection	
		B.1	One-pager	
		B.2	Interviews	
		B.3	Techno-economic data	
		B.4	Hydrogen demand	
		B.5	Spatial uses	
	С	Other	results	
		C.1	Cost surfaces	
		C.2	Optimal networks	
		C.3	Total infrastructure capacity lengths	
		C.4	Levelized cost of hydrogen	

Figures and tables

List of Figures

1	The North Sea, with the Extended Economic Zone of the 8 bordering countries	12
2	Offshore O&G pipeline networks in the NS, shown with substance and diameter. $% \mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}$.	15
3	Cost surface, hydrogen pipeline network and hydrogen supply (Sources) and demand	
	(Sinks) nodes in the Dutch EEZ.	17
4	Fictitious example of a cost surface, created from three spatial data sets	19
5	Fictitious example of Dijkstra's shortest path algorithm	20
6	Fictitious example of a LCP.	20
7	Fictitious example of graph theory network optimisation	21
8	Methodology flowchart.	23
9	Model flow.	24
10	Example of cost surface model output of the NS region. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	26
11	A set of fictitious terminal nodes and the Dutch cost surface. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	28
12	Creation of secondary cost paths	29
13	The first cost paths and secondary cost paths shown in A are merged in B. \ldots .	30
14	Calculating final cost path values between individual edges	31
15	Extracting the node pairs from the existing infrastructure and final cost paths. $\ .$.	31
16	Spatial uses and infrastructure in the NS	35
17	Comparison of starting dataset of offshore OWF to final dataset	39
18	Sinks, with associated O&G pipeline infrastructure and industrial clusters	40
19	System boundaries of electricity grid and hydrogen network	43
20	Total hydrogen demand in Europe on NUTS-2 level in 2050	44
21	Relative change in network costs for hydrogen scenarios and electricity scenarios	49
22	Scenario H, E (greenfield), and scenario HSpa and ESpa (spatial uses)	51
23	Scenario <i>HIInt</i> and <i>EIInt</i> (interconnected and reusing infrastructure)	53
24	Scenario HIIso and EIIso (isolated).	54
25	Hydrogen networks cost changes per country	56
26	Electricity grids costs changes per country	56
27	LCOH breakdown of all hydrogen-only and electricity-only scenarios	57
28	Average share of network costs LCOH for hydrogen and electricity scenarios. $\ . \ .$	58
29	Change in system LCOH for integrated scenarios, using $H\!I\!nt$ as base scenario	58
30	LCOH breakdown of sensitivity scenarios	61
31	Effects of allowing reuse of on shore O&G pipeline for hydrogen network	62

32 Comparison of LCOH (in \in /kg) to values found in literature for offshore hydro		
	production and transportation to shore	5
33	Electricity grid (scenario E), intersecting multiple high-cost areas in the cost surface. 60	6
34	Outlined connections in the NS in the EHB report	8
35	Overestimated 90° bends in $HSpa$ scenario	3
36	Example of the changes between starting and final dataset of offshore O&G pipelines. 75	5
37	ONL sense-check	7
38	One-pager which was sent to marine authorities of NS-region countries 98	8
39	Pipeline inch to capacity conversion	1
40	Relationship between cable capacity and costs	2
41	Hydrogen pipeline cost comparison	3
42	HVDC cable cost comparison	3
43	Hydrogen demand in 2050 per NUTS-2 level from EHB report	4
44	Cost surfaces for scenarios <i>HSpa</i> and <i>ESpa</i>	6
45	Cost surfaces for scenarios HIInt and HIIso and EIInt and EIIso	6
46	Resulting networks from the integrated scenarios	7
47	Full breakdown of LCOH from every scenario	9

List of Tables

1	Input parameters for ONL model	33	
2	Spatial uses and existing infrastructure data used for the modelling. \ldots	36	
3	Spatial uses and their weighing values	37	
4	Technology data used in study.	41	
5	Economic data used in study	42	
6	Normalised hydrogen demand for all sinks	44	
7	Structure of scenarios.	46	
8	Scenario summary. The main changes between scenarios are highlighted in bold. . 48		
9	Summary of total infrastructure capacity lengths (TICL) and total network costs		
	for $H, E, HSpa$ and $ESpa$ scenarios.	50	
10	Summary of TICL for <i>HIInt</i> and EIInt scenarios	52	
11	Summary of TICL for <i>HIIso</i> and <i>EIIso</i> scenarios	54	
12	Summary of sensitivity scenarios	60	
13	Statistics of $OnHIInt$ and the change compared to $HIInt$ scenario	61	
14	Comparison of spatial differences in hydrogen demand	104	
15	Table of spatial uses used in study with sources.	105	
16	TICL result comparison for interconnected $IInt$ vs isolated $IIso$ per country	108	

Abbreviations

GHG	Green-house gas
\mathbf{EU}	European Union
NS	North Sea
BE	Belgium
NL	(the) Netherlands
DE	Germany
DK	Denmark
NO	Norway
UK	(the) United Kingdom
O&G	Oil and gas
OWF	Offshore wind farm
EEZ	Extended economic zone
\mathbf{GW}	Giga-watt (10^9 W)
HVDC	High voltage direct current
HVAC	High voltage alternating current
\mathbf{US}	United States
EHB	European Hydrogen Backbone (project)
$(\mathbf{Q})\mathbf{GIS}$	(Quantum) Geographical Information Systems
FCEV	Fuel cell electric vehicle
\mathbf{CCS}	Carbon capture and storage
P2H	Power to hydrogen
NSWPH	North Sea Sind Power Hub
LCP	Least cost path
ONL	Optimal network layout
MST	Minimal spanning tree
MCST	Minimum cost spanning tree
MSP	Marine/maritime spatial plan(ning)
TSO	Transmission system operator
OTNR	Offshore Transmission Network Review
\mathbf{TWh}	Terra-watt hour (10^{12} Wh)
\mathbf{yr}	Year
NUTS	Nomenclature of Territorial Units for Statistics
\mathbf{RSQ}	Research sub question
LCOH	Levelized cost of hydrogen
\mathbf{MWh}	Mega-watt hour (10^6 Wh)
\mathbf{kg}	Kilogram
H2	Hydrogen
km	Kilometre
NSE	North Sea Energy

1 Introduction

Countries are reducing their green-house gas (GHG) emissions to slow down global warming. In the European Union (EU), recent legislation details a 55% reduction in GHG emissions by 2030 and 100% by 2050 [1, 2]. The United Kingdom (UK) and Norway (NO) also aim to reduce emissions by 100% and 90-95% respectively by 2050 [3, 4]. To realise these goals, it is widely agreed that rapid development, commercialisation and innovation of renewable, low-carbon energy sources and storage is needed [5]. More recently, following Russia's invasion of Ukraine in early 2022, extra pressure has been placed on accelerating short term decarbonisation goals such as through the RePower EU plan [6]. Decarbonisation has now become a geopolitical priority as well as a climate priority.

In Europe, the North Sea (NS) is a good place for this. Historically, the NS has been used for oil and gas (O&G) exploration, with over 1300 installations in use [7]. Now, it is host to a growing amount of offshore wind farms (OWF). As shown in Figure 1, the NS is split into the extended economic zones (EEZ) of 8 countries resulting in contesting stakeholders and spatial uses. Therefore, there is a need for integrated cross-sectoral solutions and legislation [8, 9, 10, 11].

Wind energy from OWF has been identified as an integral part of these solutions [12, 13]. The EU have set goals of increasing the capacity of OWF by 2500% from 12 GW to 300 GW by 2050 [13]. The recent Esbjerg Declaration, which defined the NS as "the Green Power Plant of Europe", states that 150 GW of offshore wind will be installed by 2050 in Belgium (BE), the Netherlands (NL), Germany (DE) and Denmark (DK) [14]. In the whole of the NS, it is expected to be even greater, between 180-255 GW [15, 16]. A lot of space will be required for this, which means that OWF are trending further offshore [11]. Complications arise when bringing large amounts of energy to land, namely;

- High infrastructural costs of HVDC cables to transport the energy to land and reinforcement of the onshore grid to accommodate the increasing load.
- Energy losses through wind energy overproduction leading to electricity curtailment transporting electricity via cables for long distances.

Converting offshore electricity production from OWF to hydrogen via electrolysis and transporting it to land via pipelines can act as a solution to alleviate some of these complications. However, this topic is contended in the literature. Purely from a transport perspective, it is shown that hydrogen pipelines are less costly than HVDC cables over very long distances (> 740 km) [17, 18, 19]. However, Semeraro and Taieb & Shabaan [18, 19] assume that hydrogen is converted back to electricity at the end of its transportation, which incurs extra energy losses. On the other hand, Franco et al. [20] find that when hydrogen is sold to end users, pipeline costs become less than HVDC cables at distances between 150-250 km from land. The study concludes that offshore



Figure 1: The North Sea (NS), with the Extended Economic Zone (EEZ) of the 8 bordering countries.

hydrogen production with pipeline transmission is more beneficial than HVDC transmission with onshore hydrogen production.

Looking from a system cost perspective, Van der Veer et al. and Van Schot and Jepma [21, 16] find that offshore hydrogen may be feasible via energy islands, when the distance from shore increases above 100 km and the wind farm capacity connected to the island is on the order of several GW. When considering market dynamics, Meier [22] finds that costs of hydrogen from offshore are too high to be competitive. However, as the author states, the study mostly considers current efficiencies and costs, not taking into account the future learning. More recent studies see benefits when hydrogen is sold directly to end users, as opposed to converting back to electricity [23, 24]. Singlitico et al. [25] find a similar conclusion in Denmark, and specify that distances above 100 km from shore are optimal.

When comparing compressed hydrogen to other energy carriers or other forms of hydrogen

(synthetic natural gas, methanol, ammonia and liquified hydrogen), it is seen that that compressed hydrogen is the most beneficial method to transport the energy to shore [26, 27, 28]. Lastly, when looking at offshore hydrogen production in a whole energy system perspective, there is significant offshore electrolyser capacity seen. Looking at the Dutch energy system, Van Stralen et al. [29] found that electrification of OWF energy to shore will remain dominant, but offshore hydrogen production will be in the range of 16 - 80 TWh/yr in 2050. This scope can be expanded to the whole of the NS region, where Gea-Bermúdez et al. [30] similarly conclude that offshore hydrogen production will remain limited, and that the majority will be produced onshore. Nevertheless, in every scenario modelled in this study, a minimum of 4 GW of offshore electrolyser capacity is seen. Additionally, when offshore salt cavern storage is included in the modelling, offshore electrolyser capacity increases to 64 GW, representing 10% of total hydrogen production by 2050. Salt caverns are already utilised for hydrogen storage in the UK and US and have been shown to be a very likely candidate for hydrogen storage in Europe in the future [31, 32, 33].

As a summary, the literature shows that a case exists for offshore hydrogen production. However, a common requirement seen in the studies is the need for a sufficient hydrogen demand and/or price. A significant future hydrogen demand is likely to be realised, due to the diverse (future) uses of hydrogen in many sectors such as transportation, heating, industry, power and agriculture [34, 35]. These uses of hydrogen have been known for decades [36, 37], yet it hasn't gained momentum until recent years, where investments of around \$ 500 Billion have been made up to 2030 [38]. In the EU specifically, the Hydrogen Strategy is aiming towards 40 GW of renewable hydrogen production by 2030 [39]. This is complemented by large scale transportation plans such as the European Hydrogen Backbone project (EHB), which envisages a broad interconnected hydrogen transportation network throughout Europe, where 69% of the backbone is based on repurposing existing O&G infrastructure [40, 41]. The exact future demand is unknown, due to the highly uncertain extent of hydrogen's role in different sectors [35]. However, it is expected to have a significant role in the order of several hundred to thousands of TWh/yr [42, 43, 44, 45].

In practice, some offshore hydrogen production projects are already underway. In the NL, the Poshydon project is piloting a 1 MW electrolyser in the Dutch NS [46]. Recently, a new pilot project; H_2OpZee was announced by RWE and Neptune Energy, where 300-500 MW of electrolyser capacity will be built in the Dutch EEZ [47]. In DE, the AquaVentus, (2021) project is planning for 10 GW of offshore hydrogen production by 2035 [48]. In Scotland (UK), the HT1 project will trial offshore electrolysis within wind turbines [49].

This body of literature brings the following starting research question:

How does offshore hydrogen production and transportation become an economically attractive option compared to onshore production when considering the entire North Sea basin?

A literature review is conducted to develop this research question.

2 Literature review

2.1 Gaps in offshore power to hydrogen studies

From the literature mentioned in the introduction, two common gaps can be identified. Firstly, most studies neglect the potential to reuse O&G infrastructure for hydrogen. Secondly, only singular, isolated, point-to-point offshore hydrogen projects are researched, disregarding the opportunities of networks and interconnection. The following sections argue why this should be taken into account.

O&G infrastructure is widely developed in the NS, with thousands of pipelines and platforms present, as shown in Figure 2. Hydrogen can be used in the existing gas grid through blending, or through complete repurposing of the pipeline [50]. Abbas et al. [51] find that, without modifying existing pipelines, hydrogen may be blended up to 40% in existing gas flows, without exceeding the erosional velocity of the pipe. However, this may lead to peculiar flow behaviours, which would require improved gas quality tracking on pipelines [52, 53]. Additionally, blending may be limited to lower amounts if existing natural gas compressors are used [54, 50].

For higher amounts of blending, or transporting pure hydrogen, O&G infrastructure needs to be modified further [51]. The recent Re-Stream report by DNV and Carbon Limits collated data from 65 pipeline operators throughout Europe, representing half of the offshore pipeline length and 30% of onshore pipeline length. Their report concluded that most offshore pipelines can be reused for hydrogen, with a minimum reusable amount of 2-25% [55]. Repurposing pipelines for hydrogen can bring significant cost savings, at 10-40% of the costs of constructing new hydrogen pipelines [55, 56, 41].

Quarton and Samsatli, [57] identify 25 projects where hydrogen is blended into gas grids. An example of an offshore project which does this is the PosHydon pilot, where the created hydrogen is blended into the gas grid (albeit at very low levels <1%) [58, 46]. There are also broad plans and projects to completely repurpose pipelines for hydrogen, such as the EHB, which has recently increased its scope to the NS [59]. Additionally, public and private projects are also being undertaken in many NS-region countries to do this, such as the UK [60, 60, 61], NL [62] and DE [63, 64].

In the instances where reuse of offshore natural gas pipelines is included in energy system modelling, offshore hydrogen production becomes increasingly feasible, as is shown by Leerling [65]. He investigated the NS energy system using Powerfys, finding that cost savings are seen with offshore hydrogen production. However, it was not spatially explicit and did not consider construction of new hydrogen pipelines. Another master thesis on a European hydrogen network by Huisman [66] included some spatial detail of the existing natural gas grid. However, this study was specifically completed on the European mainland, and disregarded the UK and the NS, where much hydrogen could be produced and traded [30, 67]. Additionally, other spatial



complexities besides O&G infrastructure were not considered. Literature on electricity grids shows

Figure 2: Offshore O&G pipeline networks in the NS, shown with substance and diameter.

that in comparison to point to point (radial) grids, interconnected electricity grids in the NS are cheaper, promote more OWF investment, provide system flexibility and decrease wind energy curtailment [68, 69, 70, 71, 72, 73, 74, 75, 76, 77, 78]. This concept is supported by the EU through the Interreg program [79]. However, in practice, realising an interconnected grid in the NS may be problematic due to the unharmonized regulatory constraints and legislation between different countries [80, 72, 81].

Although this is not directly comparable to the gas grid, it could be argued that an interconnected hydrogen network between countries could be more beneficial than an isolated topology, bringing benefits such as reliability, system flexibility and offshore hydrogen trading. This concept is reinforced by the matured topology of the O&G pipeline network as shown in Figure 2 and by ENTSOG [82], where interconnection between countries is seen. Yet, a comparison of interconnected against isolated hydrogen networks has not been studied in the literature. In practice, this concept is also supported by projects such as the hub-and-spoke project by the North Sea Wind Power Hub (NSWPH), where Energinet, Tennet and Gasunie (the Transmission System Operators (TSO) of DK, DE and NL) envisage several offshore energy hubs, connecting hydrogen power cables and hydrogen pipelines between several countries [81]. Furthermore, it is also supported by the North Sea Energy (NSE) and One North Sea projects, which are led by TNO [83, 84].

2.2 Hydrogen networks

Onshore hydrogen networks have been studied extensively. Several reviews of hydrogen supply chain studies are available [85, 86, 87, 88]. These reviews have identified several important points and gaps in the current literature:

- Lack of studies introducing the concept of risk, (deep & epistemic) uncertainty and robust optimisation in creating a hydrogen supply chain network.
- Lack of studies looking at international hydrogen supply chains.
- Most studies focus on cost minimisation, less optimise for safety or societal benefit.
- Linking optimisation with GIS should be done to increase spatial detail.
- Hydrogen demand is nearly always calculated through estimating a future FCEV market share.

Next to this, a review of 17 papers which specifically include hydrogen pipelines was completed [89, 90, 91, 92, 93, 94, 95, 96, 97, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, 103, 104, 105]. Similar to the hydrogen supply chain reviews it was found that:

- Nearly all studies formulate hydrogen demand as a fuel-cell electric vehicle (FCEV) market share.
- Most studies are deterministic, with a not much attention given to the elements of risk and uncertainty.
- All studies besides by Samsatli & Samsatli [100] only optimise for cost minimisation, with no other goal.

Additionally, it was found that spatial complexities other than distance are largely unaccounted for, besides by Johnson and Ogden, [93] where changes in elevation is considered in the optimisation.

2.3 Spatial network optimisation

In other network optimisation literature, spatial aspects are an important input. These are spatial aspects other than geometric distance, such as geological features (slope, aspect), as well as land-use features such as nature areas, rights of way, restricted areas and so forth. These spatial complexities

can be assigned cost values and, through that, create a cost surface, where the cost represents the cost of laying down a infrastructural pathway through the area [106]. It is seen in multiple domains such as planning of roads [107], waterways [108], archaeological tracing [109], residential heat [110] and pipelines. Specifically for pipelines, it has been done extensively for modelling of carbon capture and storage (CCS) networks [111, 112, 113, 114, 115, 116, 117, 118, 119] and gas pipelines [120, 121]. Additionally, it has also been done for power cables [122, 123, 124, 125].

For hydrogen networks, these specific spatial complexities are often neglected. Coleman et al. [126] created a power to hydrogen (P2H) suitability map based on protected areas, streets, wind farms and industry, but did not create a network. Two previous projects within TNO [127, 128] have used this approach for mapping hydrogen networks in the Dutch EEZ in the NS (see Figure 3). Such modelling is very important in the NS, as many stakeholders and spatial uses coexist, as mentioned previously. However, these studies are limited to the Dutch EEZ of the NS, and do not consider the energy flows within the network. I.e., no changing capacities are assigned to pipelines and no supply and demand of hydrogen is considered. This study aims to build on these previous projects.



Figure 3: Cost surface, hydrogen pipeline network and hydrogen supply (Sources) and demand (Sinks) nodes in the Dutch EEZ. Adapted from Boerhout [127].

2.4 Research gaps

Thus, considering the previously mentioned gaps in the offshore P2H literature, as well as the gaps mentioned in hydrogen supply chain modelling, this study will attempt to address the following:

- Investigate the differences in cost and network design between electricity grids and hydrogen networks.
- Including the reuse of O&G infrastructure in hydrogen network modelling, specifically in the NS region.
- Investigating the difference between isolated and interconnected hydrogen networks in the NS.
- Including spatial complexities in hydrogen network optimisation modelling.

2.5 Research questions

Based on the above literature and the identified gaps, the previously defined research question can be further developed to:

Considering spatial complexities and uncertainties, what are the most suitable energy network configurations for producing hydrogen in the North Sea region in 2040?

Which can be broken up into:

- 1. How do spatial complexities and the reuse of existing infrastructures affect energy infrastructure routing and network costs when compared to a greenfield approach?
- 2. How does the size and investment costs of the network vary for countries bordering the NS when interconnected via their offshore energy networks, compared to an isolated approach?
- 3. How do the spatial and economic properties change between an interconnected hydrogen network compared with an interconnected electricity grid?

2.6 Report structure

The remainder of the report is structured in the following; Section 3 provides a theoretical background on spatial network optimisation. Section 4 explains the methodology. Section 5 provides the results, while Section 6 discusses the results and limitations. Lastly, Section 7 gives the conclusions and recommendations. Additional information is found in the Appendix.

3 Theoretical background

The work herein is primarily based on QGIS and Python, developing and merging three different sub-models for one purpose. The Cost Surface Model and SMTAtlas model were received from TNO and created by Boerhout [127]. The Optimal Network Layout model (ONL) is created by Heijnen et al [129]. These models make use of a few main concepts; cost surfaces, least cost pathways and network optimisation. These are further introduced below.

3.1 Cost surface

A cost surface can be created by assigning values to spatial data and combining them into a grid or surface of values. The values assigned to different spatial data can reflect a number of different costs such as monetary costs, environmental costs or societal costs (sources). This technique is often used as a multi-criteria analysis when there are several different spatial phenomena present, such as planning of OWF (source). Figure 4 shows an example of creating a cost surface.



Figure 4: Fictitious example of a cost surface, created from three spatial data sets.

3.2 Least cost pathways

Least cost pathways (LCPs) often make use of a cost surface to find the lowest cost route from one point to another. Here, the cost is what is specified in the previous cost surface. The original algorithm for LCPs is based on Dijkstra's algorithm, which is an iterative algorithm to find the shortest distance between a set of nodes [130]. For example, in Figure 5 below, a set of nodes is given on the left, where an imaginary length is given between the nodes on the edges (connecting lines). The shortest path between node A and node E must be found. The algorithm iterates through all possible pathways and finds the shortest path. This is denoted by the red line on the right of the figure. The pathway is A - B - E with a total length of 4. Dijkstra's algorithm can be used in conjunction with cost surfaces, where the distance value between nodes can be changed to a cost value. This then becomes a LCP algorithm. However, it can become a much slower process. Each grid cell within the cost surface becomes a node, storing the cost of that specific grid cell.



Figure 5: Fictitious example of Dijkstra's shortest path algorithm.

This means that the algorithm must iterate through many more possible pathways. Therefore, the resolution of the cost surface determines the number of possible pathways from one target node to the other, and in turn determines the total time it takes for the algorithm to find an answer. Using the same cost surface as from Figure 4, a LCP can be shown in Figure 6 below. From left to right, the cost surface cells are converted to a nodes with certain cost values. The LCP algorithm then iterates (two example iterations shown in grey) through the possible pathways to find the least cost pathway (red line).



Figure 6: Fictitious example of a LCP from a starting node A to end node B. The red line shows the least cost path, whereas the grey lines show examples of the iterations which the algorithm must make (not exhaustive).

3.3 Network optimisation

Heijnen et al., (2020) define three types of network optimisation modelling: graph theory, mixed integer (non-) linear programming (MI(N)LP) and ant colony optimisation (ACO) [129]. In this study, the graph theory approach is followed, which is argued by Heijnen et al. [129] and Huisman [66] to be the most useful methodology to model energy networks. Differently to producing LCPs, which connects two nodes with each other, graph theory connects multiple nodes. This creates a set of connections (edges) and points (nodes), which make up the network. The optimisation procedure is often done in order to minimise the distance or a user-defined cost.

Using the example nodes from Figure 5, the network can be optimised to create a minimum

spanning tree, which connects all nodes, as is seen in Figure 7a and 7b below. This can be more complex, by defining sources and sinks with specific supply and demands, as is seen in c. This can be optimised to create a capacitated network, as shown in d. In the model from Heijnen et al. [129] it is possible to define a routing network where the optimisation space is forced to only consider specific connections. This routing network is highlighted in e below, where f shows the outcome.



Figure 7: Fictitious example of graph theory network optimisation. In a) a set of nodes with possible edges is given, which is optimised for length in b). In c) sources with supply (red) and sinks with demand (green) are given, which is optimised for length and capacity in d). In e, sources, sinks and nodes are given with specified possible connections (routing network) which is optimised in f).

The nodes within the routing network which are connected to three or more edges and have no supply or demand (such as the white nodes in the 7e and f) are called Steiner nodes. Usually, in graph theory, Steiner nodes are implemented into networks as a new node which reduces the total network distance or cost. However, this is an NP-hard problem, meaning that the optimisation of a network which includes Steiner nodes cannot be solved in polynomial time. Therefore, many differing approximations are used, such as suggested by Heijnen et al. [129] or Yeates et al. [131]. These approaches can vary in their solution time as well as accuracy to the most optimal answer.

In the model by [129] it is possible to create Steiner points during the optimisation, in order to reduce costs. However, it is not possible and not logical to do this if a routing network is used, as the final result could deviate from the routing restrictions set. Therefore, in this study, Steiner nodes are created as part of the routing network and thus provided as an input to the optimisation. This is done by creating Steiner nodes at the intersection between different sets of LCPs [132, 127, 108].

The interaction of the cost surface, LCPs and network optimisation in this study is further explained in the methodology.

4 Methodology

The methodology contains the model formulation, data collection and preparation, scenario creation, and system cost calculation. Figure 8 below shows the work flow.



Figure 8: Methodology flowchart.

4.1 Model formulation

The model has a three-part structure as shown in Figure 9 below.



Figure 9: Model flow.

The model is set up to answer the following; how can a number of offshore hydrogen production points (sources) with a defined supply be connected with a number of onshore hydrogen demand points (sinks) with a defined demand via new hydrogen pipelines and reusing existing O&G infrastructure (edges). The capacity of the pipeline and the societal value of spatial uses in the NS is also taken into account. This is executed through three main steps as is seen in Figure 9. The first two steps, creating a cost surface and generating candidate networks are done using Python within QGIS. The last step, finding an optimal network layout is completed in Python.

4.1.1 Cost surface model

The purpose of this model is to create a cost surface over which candidate networks can be produced. The cost surface is representative of the spatial uses in study area, where a higher cost represents a higher societal cost of placing infrastructure in the area. The model is adapted from Boerhout [127] and is based within Quantum Geographical Information System (QGIS) [133]. A number of different spatial uses are collected in the format of shapefiles. Shapefiles are files which contain geographical data of certain features in vector format, commonly used in GIS software. Specifically, these are in the form of polygons and polylines, representing different spatial uses. Next, weighing values are assigned to these spatial uses. Here, weighing values can be considered as a cost multiplier for constructing (or reusing) pipelines for hydrogen transportation. However, it does not represent an accurate monetary cost, but rather a societal indicator on the costs of building hydrogen infrastructure in differing areas. Finally, the sub-model combines these spatial uses along with their relevant weighing values into a cost surface. This cost is in the form of a raster shapefile, and is used as an input to create candidate networks. An automated beta version (Python script) of the model was provided by TNO. However, the model was not complete, and thus extra functions were added:

- The ability for the model to include existing infrastructure in the cost surface. This addition follows the model structure as the one given by Boerhout [127].
- Ensuring reduced costs of using preferred infrastructure corridor routes is not double counted with the existing infrastructure. Often, preferred infrastructure corridors are in the same area as existing infrastructure. The costs should not be double counted in this case.
- Setting cost surface values where no spatial use exists as 1, to represent an accurate multiplier of the costs in a neutral area.
- Option of adding areas outside of modelling region such as the EEZ of different countries as a high value, to prevent the candidate networks to enter these regions.

Figure 10 below shows an example output of the cost surface model with 1 km cell resolution. Higher values (darker colours) are given to areas of higher societal value (such as ecological areas).



Figure 10: Example of cost surface model output of the NS region.

4.1.2 Candidate networks model

The candidate networks model uses the generated cost surface, sources and sinks to create possible low – cost connections between sources and sinks. Sources and sinks are also referred to as Terminal nodes. The model is set up as an automated sequence of QGIS tools, where the candidate networks are mostly created through least cost paths (LCPs). As explained in Section 3 LCPs are a method of determining the cheapest pathway from one node to another (or multiple nodes), based on a surface where the costs differ spatially. In this model, this is the LCPs between terminals and existing infrastructure, over the generated cost surface. This concept is implemented through the QGIS Least-Costs-Paths Network plugin [134].

The model developed in this study builds on models by Boerhout and Kwakernaak [127, 108], yet differs significantly. Firstly, potential Steiner nodes are not used as they seem to have negligible effects on the cost [127, 108]. None of the results in both studies use the potential Steiner nodes that are given as an input. Below is a breakdown of the model into sub-modules. The main techniques taken from the previous model are module 2 - first cost paths, module 3 - cleaning cost paths, and module 6 - calculating final cost paths. The other modules, 1, 4, 5 and 7 are novel.

1. Initial set up

Here, paths to the input data are set and output paths (to see intermediate and final results) are also created. Additionally, the existing infrastructure data is prepared for further use, by extracting vertices (inflection points in the network) as nodes. Lastly, a decision is made: *Reusing* = *True or False*. Default set to True. This decides whether existing infrastructure can be reused.

2. First cost paths

LCPs are created from source to source and from sink to source, as shown in Figure 11 below. This creates a completely connected network, which is required for the optimisation.

3. Cleaning first cost paths

Cost paths are then 'cleaned', where a number of procedures are undertaken.

- Cost paths with no values are deleted (where the node connects to itself)
- Duplicate geometries are deleted, where the same cost path is present between two nodes.
- Nodes are extracted from inflection points along the cost paths.
- Cost paths and nodes are assigned to the correct projection.



Figure 11: A set of fictitious terminal nodes and the Dutch cost surface is given in A. The first cost paths are found in B.

4. Secondary cost paths

If Reusing = False, this step is skipped. Figure 12 below details the steps in this module. A buffer is created around the existing infrastructure, which marks an area around the infrastructure of a certain distance, specified by the user (12A and 12B). From the First cost paths (module 2), the edges which intersect with the buffer area are removed, creating a dataset of loose candidates (12C and 12D). With these loose candidates, nodes are extracted from every inflection point, and secondary cost paths are created between the nodes of the loose candidates and the nodes of the existing infrastructure which were extracted in module 1 (12E and 12F). Additionally, cost paths are created between the sources and the nearest existing infrastructure node, as well as the sinks and the nearest existing infrastructure node (12F). These three sets of cost paths are merged and saved together as the secondary cost paths.



Figure 12: Creation of secondary cost paths. Existing infrastructure from A is buffered, with the result seen in B. The first cost paths which intersect the buffered existing infrastructure in C is extracted, and shown in D. The loose candidates shown in E are then connected back to existing infrastructure in F, creating secondary cost paths.

5. Cleaning secondary cost paths

If Reusing = False, this step is skipped. Similarly to step 3, cost paths are cleaned by deleting duplicate geometries, extracting nodes and projecting layers to the correct coordinate reference system. Two additional steps are taken. The cleaned secondary cost paths are merged with the first cost paths (see Figure 13), and the cleaned secondary nodes are merged with the first cost



paths nodes. Duplicate geometries are deleted, and individual edges are created where inflection points exist.

Figure 13: The first cost paths and secondary cost paths shown in A are merged in B.

6. Final cost paths

If Reusing = True, use outputs of module 5. If Reusing = False, use outputs of module 3. This step ensures that the costs between two nodes are correct. Here, for every individual edge (between two nodes), both nodes are extracted. For these two nodes, a final LCP is ran, which calculates the correct cost. Figure 14 below visualises this process.

7. Exporting data

Final cost paths are cleaned by fixing invalid geometry. An unique id is added to each individual edge. Nodes are then extracted, which creates two nodes for each edge. These nodes are named node pairs, and are an input to the following model (see Figure 15). If Reusing = True, the nodes of the existing edges are also extracted. This results in two output datasets in csv files, which are inputs for the optimisation. The candidate node pairs store the cost (from Figure 14B) and the existing infrastructure node pairs store the capacity/diameter of the edge of which they are the start and end points.



Figure 14: Calculating final cost path values between individual edges. In A, nodes are extracted from the start and end of each edge. In B, the final cost is calculated.



Figure 15: From A to B, extracting the node pairs from the existing infrastructure and final cost paths, on every inflection point in each data set.

4.1.3 Optimal network layout

The ONL model developed by Heijnen et al. [129] connects multiple sources and multiple sinks with capacitated edges, ensuring supply meets demand in all nodes. Importantly, the supply and demand must be set manually by the user, and must equal each other. The optimisation procedure of the ONL is limited in this study by the candidate networks and the existing infrastructure network, along with the existing capacities of the latter. For the purposes of the research, the model is adapted. The objective function (Equation 1 below) is adapted in comparison to the original model and is inspired by Geutjes and Heijnen et al. [135, 129].

Objective function:

$$Minimize\ C(G) = \sum_{e \in E_n(G)} w_e q_e^\beta + cpc \sum_{e \in E_o(G)} w_e (q_e - q_{e,r})^\beta + rpc \sum_{e \in E_o(G)} w_e q_{e,r}^\beta \tag{1}$$

Where the objective is to minimize the total cost C of network G, which is made up of a set of new edges E_n and existing edges E_o . The individual edges e have a specific weight w, capacity qand a capacity-cost exponent β , where $0 \leq \beta \leq 1$. Existing edges have a remaining capacity $q_{e,r}$ which has a repurposing cost multiplier rpc and a capacity extension cost multiplier cpc. The main changes in comparison to the original are listed below. For specific changes to the model code, see Appendix A.

- The added function of a repurposing cost, as defined by Geutjes [135].
- The use of an edge weight w instead of the length of the pipeline. This weight is calculated through multiplying the lengths of the edges with the costs of the underlying cost surface, which are defined from the weighing values in Table 3.

The model structure is set up in the following steps. For visualisations of the model steps and a full breakdown of the equations used, see [129, 66].

1. Read input data

Here, the input data is prepared for the model. This includes preparing files, assigning values to input parameters and creating the scope of the optimisation. To prepare the node pairs of candidate networks and existing infrastructure, the datasets are grouped by unique identifiers. For the candidate network it is the edge id, and for the existing infrastructure it is the name, angle and diamater of the edge. The diameters of the existing infrastructure must be converted to a capacity, which is done following similar data from Hy3 report [136] (see Appendix B, where the high-heating value (HHV) of hydrogen and 20 m/s flow speed is assumed within pipelines). This results in a similar diameter to capacity conversion as seen in the EHB [40]. Terminal nodes are also prepared, as well as their supply and demands which is further discussed in the System Boundaries subsection below. All files are prepared as text files, which is the necessary format for the ONL model. The input parameters are set in table 1 below.

\mathbf{V} ariable	Value	Justification	
β	$0.6~{\rm and}~1$	0.6 widely used as a standard capacity cost exponent for hydrogen	
		pipelines [89, 129, 131]. For electricity cables, a value of 1 used as	
		it is assumed there are no cost – benefits of increasing capacity (see	
		appendix B).	
cpc	0.78	Factor for reusing existing corridors defined by Thoonsen [128]. It is	
		assumed that capacity extension $\cos t = \operatorname{reusing} existing corridor.$	
rpc	0.1	This value lies somewhere between 0.1 and 0.4 [55, 56, 41]. However,	
		the lower amount is chosen.	

Table 1: Input parameters for ONL model.

The scope of the optimisation is also decided here through decisions, namely:

- *Routing* = *True or False.* Whether there are routing restrictions for the network. Default is True. This limits the scope of the optimisation, as the solution is confined to the possible configurations of the candidate network.
- Obstacles = True or False. Whether there are obstacles in the search are of the network. Default is set to False.
- *Existing* = *True or False*. Whether there are existing connections to be reused. Default is True. The capacities of the existing connections sets a limit to the model of how much can be reused for hydrogen.
- *Route costs = True or False.* Whether the societal costs of the routing network should be taken into account. Default is True.

In the original model there are is also the opportunity to add a cost to splitting points, which represents a fork-like connection. However, this is not taken into account, as the costs were estimated to be negligible for hydrogen pipelines in discussions with industry experts at TNO and NSE. For electricity cables they were not used as specifying where to set converters on splitting points was left out of scope.

2. Analyse demand-supply patterns

If data is available for multiple time-steps, this step is used to analyse all the supply-demand patterns at the nodes. In this model however, only one time-step is used. These values are set manually by the user and the total supply must equal the total demand. This is further elaborated in the scenario section.

3. Determine representative set of k demand-supply profiles

If many time-steps are given, this step is able to choose a representative set of supply-demand profiles. This is useful to break down a large dataset into a manageable one, while attempting to keep resolution on the energy needs of all supply and demand profiles. The model can then calculate the maximum capacities needed for the pipelines to satisfy supply and demand. There is only a singular time-step and thus only this time step is used.

4. Minimal spanning tree (MST)

In this step, the initial MST is found, and capacities are assigned to the edges to satisfy the supply and demand. In the original model, this would use the distance of edges to create the MST. However, in this model, the weight of the edge is used instead, which has been defined by the pre-optimisation steps. To implement this change, the model code is changed at several points.

5. Minimum cost spanning tree (MCST)

The cost of expanding capacity is not considered in the minimal spanning tree. The capacity cost exponent reflects the real-world phenomena that the cost per km of transported (hydrogen) gas decreases with an increase in the capacity. In this step, the network is "rewired" using the edgeswap heuristic [129]. Here, edges with high costs are swapped iteratively and assigned capacities in order to find cheaper network configurations. When no cheaper configurations are found, the optimisation ends. It is important to note that this is not a guarantee to find the cheapest network, as it is a heuristic.

Note: due to this optimisation methodology, as well as the large amount of offshore wind farms, the results exhibit connections on the scale of 10s of GW. This is a representation of multiple pipelines or cables which are clustered next to each other, rather than a single infrastructure connection. In fact, the current largest capacity HVDC cables are around 2 GW, whereas the largest pipeline capacity is 48 inches (around 13 GW) [137, 82].

4.2 Data collection

4.2.1 Spatial uses

A number of spatial uses were collected by the author as an internship project prior to this project and are shown in Figure 16 below.



Figure 16: Spatial uses and infrastructure in the NS. Data collected as part of internship project.

Table 2 below shows the relevant data that was kept, the main sources and the edits made. For an exhaustive list of the sources please see Appendix B. Not all spatial uses are available in all countries, such as dumping grounds for DK. This may be due to the country not utilising the practice, or that the data is too sensitive to be shared. Additionally, not all spatial uses can be

\mathbf{S} patial use	Countries	Comments	Source(s)
Military areas	All (exc.	Areas designated for military exer-	EMODnet, Overpass
	DE)	cises	Turbo, MSPs, NMPI,
			Geonorge.
Sand extrac-	All (exc.	Areas where sand or aggregates	EMODnet, MMO,
tion	NO)	are extracted from the sea bed.	MSPs, Overpass Turbo.
Preferred	All (exc.	Many countries have defined pre-	Rijkswaterstaat,
(cable and $/$	NO)	ferred cable and / or pipeline	EMODnet, MSPs.
or pipeline)		routes in their MSPs.	
routes			
Ecology	All	Includes protected areas for all	EMODnet, OSPAR,
		countries.	MSPs, Miljodirek-
			toratet.
Shipping	All	Data collated from multiple	EMODnet, MMO,
routes		sources.	MSPs, Overpass Turbo.
OWF	All	Final capacities and locations of	4C Offshore, EMODnet,
		offshore OWF based on 4C Off-	Rijkswaterstaat, Scot-
		shore database. Dataset last up-	tish Government, MSPs,
		dated in May 2022.	Netzentwicklungsplan,
			Energistyrelsen, NVE.
Offshore O&G	All	Pipeline ends are joined. Seg-	EMODnet, OGA.
pipelines		ments are simplified, duplicates	
		are deleted. Pipelines below 14	
		inch are removed.	
Offshore elec-	All	Based on existing cables as well as	4C Offshore, EMODnet.
tricity cables		planned and possible development	
		areas.	

 $Table \ 2: \ Spatial \ uses \ and \ existing \ infrastructure \ data \ used \ for \ the \ modelling. \ See \ Appendix \ B \ for \ sources.$

modelled appropriately. An example of this is cultural heritage sites such as wrecks. These are on the order of several hundred meters, whereas the model operates on a macro scale of several km. Additionally, the cost of rerouting infrastructure by several hundred meters is negligible in comparison to the total cost of a NS-wide infrastructure network. To standardise the spatial uses across the NS, the most prevalent and important spatial uses were used. In previous studies by Thonseen [128] and (later adapted by) Boerhout [127], weighing values (previously named as 'Use Factors') were given to these spatial uses (previously named as 'Use Functions') through
consultation with industry stakeholders from NL. As the scope of the project is increased to the NS, it is important that the weighing value also reflect the opinions of experts in these countries. Efforts were made to conduct a series of interviews with marine authorities of the separate countries to find appropriate weighing values. However, difficulties arose as the assigning weighing values to spatial uses was deemed too complex in a short time period without the cooperation of many ministries. Therefore, the weighing values of NL were extrapolated to the other countries. The interview notes are provided in B. The final weighing values and spatial uses are seen in Table 3.

Table 3: Spatial uses and their weighing values. Weighing values defined by Thoonsen [128] and Boerhout [127]. Note that corridor reuse and preferred routes have the same value. The difference in both is that the preferred routes are defined by MSPs, whereas corridors are defined by existing infrastructure.

\mathbf{S} patial use	Weighing value
Ecology	5.1
Sand extraction	3.42
Military	1.53
Shipping lanes	1.66
Preferred cable & pipeline routes	0.78
Pipelines reuse	0.1
Infrastructure corridor reuse	0.78

4.2.2 Terminal nodes

Locations of the terminal nodes (sources and sinks) are defined. Sweden and France are left out of scope, as their share of the NS is small and planned OWF are very close to shore.

Sources are based on the locations of OWF, where it is assumed offshore electrolysis using sea water and electricity from OWF can take place. Collection of the OWF dataset was also completed during the previous internship project. To accurately represent the possible scope of hydrogen pipeline networks in the NS, the number of sources is limited. This is done in a number of ways.

- OWF which are out of scope of the NS are removed. These can be seen on the map below (Sweden, France, Baltic Sea, west of Scotland, northern seas of NO).
- The OWF dataset was updated (in May 2022), using 4C Offshore. The OWF datasets are updated daily by 4C Offshore. OWF which are in contact with each other and have the same name are merged together as one, and their capacities are summed.
- Generic bidding zones and cancelled, decommissioned and dormant projects are excluded.
- Areas reserved for possible energy islands are excluded.

- Existing, active OWF (which are already connected to the electricity grid) are excluded.
- OWF which are planned to be fully operational before 2030 are excluded, as they will likely be connected via electricity cables.
- Where possible, planned electricity cable connections to OWF are taken into account, and the connected OWF are excluded. An assessment of each country is completed below.
 - Belgium- (BE) Interestingly, BE are planning to connect to the UK via an interconnector and the Princess Elisabeth offshore wind zone [138]. However, it is confirmed by the Belgian government that the TSO (Elia) is responsible for constructing an offshore grid, with no mention of hydrogen production [139]). Additionally, the future offshore OWF in BE will be active before 2030.
 - Netherlands (NL) Possible energy islands have been defined in the Dutch NS such as by [140], but no solid plans have been made so far. On the other hand TenneT have identified OWF areas to which they will connect to before 2030 [141].
 - Germany (DE) In DE plans have been made to connect to all OWF via cables in zone 1 to 3 in the MSP by the Netzentwicklungsplan [142]. However, no plans have been made yet to connect zone 4 and 5, which are further out in the sea. Interestingly, additional possible OWF areas are identified in zone 4 and 5 than is stated in the MSP. However, they are not confirmed. Additionally, the TSOs have stated they would rather onshore electrolysis, as it provides more flexibility in the end use of the electricity generation. Moreover, they have stated that they are encouraging a NSWPH, with plans of 2 GW of interconnection between neighbouring countries.
 - Denmark (DK) There are plans for an offshore energy island in the NS by 2030, which will accommodate the 3 GW of OWF. However this will initially be connected with electricity [143]. How the additional 10 GW increase thereafter is connected has not been planned yet.
 - Norway (NO) The government have recently planned 30 GW of offshore wind by 2040, where they envision a large part of this will be available to go to other countries [144]. Sites will be chosen following research by NVE in 2022-23 [145], and licensing is set to start in 2025. For the already designated areas, it is stated that Phase 1 (1.5 GW) of the future wind farm Sørlige Nordsjø will be connected via electricity and only to the Norwegian mainland, with no connection possible to other countries. However, Phase 2 (1.5 GW) may have a different connection. Statnett (the TSO of NO) will complete a study on this during autumn 2022 [145].
 - United Kingdom (UK) The UK have extensive plans for offshore wind which is led through the Offshore Transmission Network Review (OTNR). By June 2022,

a coordination project will be completed which will attempt to coordinate offshore wind farm projects together, named the Holistic Network Design Methodology [146]. Additionally, the UK government are eager to develop multi-purpose interconnectors in the near future, as well as aiming for 50 GW of offshore wind by 2030 [147]. Some future offshore bidding zones are identified by 4C Offshore, however, these are very large generic zones, lacking details on the placement and capacities of OWF. The OTNR provide a map on the planned OWF, where it is seen that many are expected to be connected via electricity cables [148].

The final dataset has 44 OWF, totalling 103.1 GW. The final locations are seen in Figure 17. To convert these areas into source nodes (for the model), the center of each OWF is found using QGIS.



Figure 17: Comparison of starting dataset (left) of offshore OWF to final dataset (right).

Sinks are located based on existing O&G infrastructure docking points (Figure 18), which are normally located by large industrial clusters. These areas are chosen as they already have facilities for treating gas, and are likely to significant hydrogen demand in the future due to their proximity to industrial clusters. Additionally, some sinks are chosen based on planned future hydrogen projects. Specifically, Helgoland and Brunesbuttel are part of the AquaVentus project [149], and Zeeland is part of the HyWay27 project [62].



 $\label{eq:Figure 18: Sinks, with associated $O&G$ pipeline infrastructure and industrial clusters.}$

4.2.3 Techno-economic data

Costs of infrastructure are derived from the Danish Energy Agency, internal TNO data and other sources. The system components are shown in Table 4 (technological parameters) and Table 5 (economic parameters). Cost and efficiency values of 2040 are used as it is imagined the planning of these infrastructures will not be completed before then. For the electricity components, HVDC cables are used because they are generally preferred over HVAC for long distance and offshore use as they have lower losses [150]. Techno-economic parameters left out of scope are re-compression (booster) stations and additional converters (e.g. at splitting points), as the network optimisation formulation does not consider these. Hydrogen distribution and end-use adaption are also not considered due to being outside of the system boundaries (see Figure 19).

Parameter	Value	Unit	Source(s)	Notes
Lifetime	30	Years	$\left[151,21\right],$ own analysis.	Average of lifetimes
				used. Used for all tech-
~ .			[]	nologies.
Capacity	103.1	GW	[152], own analysis.	See terminal nodes sec-
			[·]	tion for analysis.
Full load hours	4900	hr/yr	[151]	2040 estimate.
Electrolyser capacity	% of OWF	GW		Offshore and onshore
	capacity			capacity varies per sce-
	~	~	[·]	nario.
Electrolyser load factor	97%	%	[151]	
Electrolyser efficiency	70%	%	[151]	Average of PEM and
/_				AEK in 2040.
Water requirement (for	188.5	t/GWh	[151]	Average of PEM and
electrolyser)		electricity		AEK in 2040.
		input		
Desalination unit	2.99	kWh/t wa-	[21] [21]	
power requirement		ter		
Compressor energy de-	0.8%	% energy	[151]	Compressing from 35
mand		loss		to 70 bar. Average of
				2030/50.
Pipeline energy losses	0.0031%	%/km	[151]	70 bar, 1000 km
				pipeline. Average of
				2030/50, above 0.25
				GW capacity.
HVDC cable losses	0.0035%	%/km	[150, 25]	Per 1000 km cable.
Converter station	1%	%/station	[150, 25]	
losses				
Number of converter	2	Stations	[25]	
stations		per cable		
		connection.		

Table 4: Technology data used in study.

Parameter	Value	Unit	Source(s)	Notes
Discount rate	4%	%	[151]	
FOM (standard)	2%	%	[21]	Used for technologies where actual FOM was not found
OWF	1.44	M€/ MW	[151]	Equipment and instal- lation of array cable, turbines, foundations and project develop- ment. 2040 estimate.
OWF FOM	0.033	M€/ MW / yr	[151]	2040 estimate.
OWF VOM	3.3	€/ MWh	[151]	2040 estimate.
Offshore platform	0.9	M€/ MW	Internal NSE / TNO data	
Platform FOM	Standard FOM			
Desalination unit CAPEX	3500	\in / kW	[27, 21]	
Electrolyser CAPEX	0.375	M€/ MW	[151]	Average of PEM and AEK in 2040.
Offshore electrolyser CAPEX	116.3%	M€/MW	[27]	Compared to onshore electrolyser
Electrolyser FOM	0.01	M€/ MW / yr	[151]	Average of PEM and AEK in 2040.
Compressor CAPEX	3.4	M€/ MW	[59]	
Offshore compressor CAPEX	200%	M€/MW	[27]	Compared to onshore compressor
Compressor FOM	8%	% of CAPEX	[21]	
Pipeline CAPEX	Variable	M€/ GW / km	Internal NSE TNO data based on real projects [21].	Values are interpolated between different ca- pacities and distances.
Pipeline reuse cost	10%	M€/ GW / km	[59]	Reuse cost of pipelines, compared to new hydrogen pipeline CAPEX
HVDC cables	Variable	M€/ GW / km	Internal NSE TNO data based on real projects [21].	Values are interpolated between different ca- pacities and distances.
HVDCcablecom-ponents(Converter,offshoreplatform,onshore station)	Variable	M€/ GW	Internal NSE TNO data based on real projects [21].	Values are interpolated between different ca- pacities and distances.

Table 5: Economic data used in study.

4.3 Scenarios

4.3.1 System boundaries

To compare transportation networks, the system boundaries are set below in Figure 19.



Figure 19: System boundaries of electricity grid (above) and hydrogen network (below).

Additionally, the hydrogen supply and demand must be defined in the sources and the sinks. Hydrogen supply in the sources is limited by the available capacity and average load factor OWF, the (expected) efficiency of electrolysers, and the limits set in the different scenarios. The total onshore hydrogen demand will likely exceed the offshore hydrogen supply. This is roughly estimated by using the techno-economic data from 4.2.3, resulting in a technical possibility of around 360 TWh/yr of offshore hydrogen generation. This is less than the estimations of onshore demand by Groß et al. [153] in Figure 20, where demand NS-region countries is considerably higher. Similarly, a higher onshore demand than offshore production is seen in [30]. In the model used in this study, total demand in the sinks must equal the total supply in the sources. Therefore, the supplydemand amount is defined through the total supply. As established previously, total supply (and thus demand) equates to 103.1 GW. Importantly, the demand varies spatially in each sink. For projections of hydrogen demand in 2050, data is used from the Horizon 2020 HyUSPRe project [153] in Figure 20. In the study, hydrogen demand is estimated in 2050 for transport, industry feedstock and process heat. All demands are considered in this study, setting it apart from other hydrogen network optimisation studies.

As Figure 20 shows, the demand is given on NUTS-2 level. The sinks (see Figure 18) adopt the demand of the NUTS-2 areas in which they are located, through a spatial join. In the case where multiple sinks are within one NUTS-2 level, the demand is shared equally between each sink. The relative differences in demand are found, and matched to the offshore supply. This is shown in Table 6. A comparison of the spatial aspect of hydrogen demand is made in Appendix B.



Figure 20: Total hydrogen demand in Europe on NUTS-2 level in 2050. Data from HyUSPRe project [153].

Sink name	Country	Percentage of total demand	Normalised demand (GW)
Zeebrugge	BE	2%	1.6
Nybro	DK	2%	2.3
Dornum	DE	11%	11.3
Helgoland	DE	5%	5.2
Brunsbuttel	DE	5%	5.2
Maasvlakte	NL	18%	18.5
Ijmuiden	NL	19%	19.1
Den Helder	NL	19%	19.1
Eemshaven	NL	0%	0.5
Zeeland	NL	5%	5.4
Karsto	NO	1%	0.7
Kollsnes	NO	1%	0.7
St Fergus	UK	1%	0.6
Teesside	UK	2%	2.1
Easington	UK	9%	8.8
Bacton	UK	2%	2

Table 6: Normalised hydrogen demand for all sinks. See Figure 18 for sink locations.

4.3.2 Description of scenarios

A number of scenarios are set up which can reflect the future socio-political constraints of installing infrastructure in the NS. The results of these cases are then compared in order to answer the research questions.

Hydrogen networks or electricity grids

Producing hydrogen can be done offshore using electricity from wind, and transported back via a hydrogen network. Or, an electricity grid can transport the electricity from wind to shore, and hydrogen can be produced onshore. These results of these two scenarios are compared to indicate the difference in costs between offshore and onshore hydrogen production. It is unlikely that the future infrastructure will be completely hydrogen or electricity, and so integrated scenarios can also be compared. Here, a percentage of the hydrogen is produced offshore and a percentage is produced onshore. Different percentages of offshore and onshore are compared to see the effects on the cost of producing hydrogen. Importantly, the whole system costs are taken into account as the components of an electricity grid and a hydrogen network varies greatly. The results from these scenarios show the differences in costs of offshore and onshore hydrogen, and answers the main research question, as well as RSQ1.

Spatial uses and reusing infrastructure

When planning and installing infrastructure, other competing spatial uses and infrastructure must be considered, as well as the effects on the surrounding environment. This is taken into account by applying weighing values to the spatial uses and infrastructure in the NS. Three scenarios can be created based on the existence of these spatial uses and infrastructure. Firstly, a greenfield scenario where no spatial uses or infrastructure is considered, acting as a base scenario. Secondly, the effects of spatial uses is included, by using a cost surface to determine the routing. Lastly, the effects of spatial uses and the possibility of reusing infrastructure is considered. Comparing the results of these scenarios give indications on the limitations and opportunities of existing spatial uses and infrastructure on the routing and costs of transporting energy and producing hydrogen. Additionally, it can show which areas in the NS are favourable for installing energy transport infrastructure, as well as which parts of the existing infrastructure is favourable to reuse. Comparing the results of these scenarios answers RSQ2.

Forced interconnection or isolation

Interconnecting countries via hydrogen networks or electricity grids can be beneficial in terms of trading energy, energy security and flexibility. However, there is (currently) little regulatory support to do this in the NS, which may change in the future. This future uncertainty can be explored by creating an interconnected scenario and an isolated scenario. In the interconnected scenario, a complete network is created between all sources and sinks in the NS, forcing all countries to balance their supply and demand. In the isolated scenario, countries are forced to connect to the sources and sinks within their EEZ, and cannot connect to neighbouring countries. Comparing the results from these scenarios gives an indication of the difference in routing and investment costs of both network set ups. A comparison of the results of these scenarios answers RSQ3.

4.3.3 Structure of scenarios

The above can be summarised as 11 scenarios, sorted in the following structure in Table 7.

\mathbf{H} ydrogen production	Spatial complexity	Network set	Scenario
		up	
Offshore (transport via	Greenfield	Interconnected	Н
hydrogen network)			
	Cost surface	Interconnected	HSpa
	Cost surface & existing	Interconnected	HIInt
	infrastructure		
		Isolated	HIIso
Onshore (transport via	Greenfield	Interconnected	E
electricity grid)			
	Cost surface	Interconnected	ESpa
	Cost surface & existing	Interconnected	EIInt
	infrastructure		
		Isolated	EIIso
75% offshore, $25%$ on-	Cost surface & existing	Interconnected	75H25E
shore	infrastructure		
50% offshore, $50%$ on-	Cost surface & existing	Interconnected	50H25E
shore	infrastructure		
25% offshore, $75%$ on-	Cost surface & existing	Interconnected	25H75E
shore	infrastructure		

Table 7: Structure of scenarios.

4.4 System costs

To compare scenarios, the length, capacity and costs of networks are calculated. Additionally, the levelized cost of hydrogen (LCOH) are calculated for the whole system. Firstly, the real cost of the optimised infrastructure is calculated. To convert the results of the optimisation into real cost values, two steps are required. Firstly, the cost is calculated through the equation 2, using the length of the infrastructure.

$$Real C(G) = X(\sum_{e \in E_n(G)} l_e q_e + cpc \sum_{e \in E_o(G)} l_e (q_e - q_{e,r}) + rpc \sum_{e \in E_o(G)} l_e q_{e,r})$$
(2)

Where the real total cost C of network G is found. This is made up of a set of new edges E_n and existing edges E_o . The individual edges e have a capacity q. Existing edges have a remaining capacity $q_{e,r}$ which has a repurposing cost multiplier rpc and a capacity extension cost multiplier cpc. Although no power cables are available to be reused in the NS, the corridors they provide may be reused at lower costs. In this case, a very low existing capacity is given to these cables to simulate the possibility of reusing the corridor. Lastly, the equation is multiplied by X, which is a real cost factor for new infrastructure. These cost values are derived from internal TNO data, where a number of pipeline and HVDC cable distances are given at a number of different capacities. For each scenario, X changes dependant on the average distance and the capacity of the edges in each scenario. Linear interpolation is used to find each cost value. A comparison of the used cost to literature is seen in Appendix B, where HVDC cable infrastructure costs are compared to the values by Härtel et al. [154] in (Figure 42) and hydrogen pipelines costs are compared to the Danish Energy Agency [151] (Figure 41). The figures show that the values used in this study are in line with the literature. The LCOH is calculated through equation 3 [155, 156, 157]:

$$LCOH = \frac{\sum_{t=0}^{t=T} \left(\left(\frac{I_s}{(1+r)^t} \right) + \left(\frac{FOM_s}{(1+r)^t} \right) + \left(\frac{VOM_s}{(1+r)^t} \right) \right)}{\sum_{t=0}^{t=T} \frac{E_H - EL_s}{(1+r)^t}}$$
(3)

Where t is the timestep, T is the system lifetime, and r is the discount rate. I is the investment, FOM is the fixed operation and maintenance costs, VOM is the variable operation and maintenance costs, E_H is the hydrogen energy produced and E_L is the energy losses. The system, s, consists of different components, dependant on the scenario. These component parameters are seen in Table 4 and 5.

- Hydrogen system: OWF, offshore island/platform, offshore desalination unit, offshore electrolyser, offshore compressor, offshore pipelines.
- Electricity system: OWF, offshore cables components, onshore desalinization unit, onshore electrolyser and onshore compressor.

Finally, a conversion of $1 \in MWh$ H2 to $25.4 \in /kg$ H2 is used [157].

5 Results

This section includes network optimisation outputs, the capacity, lengths and costs of infrastructure, as well as a comparison of system LCOH between all scenarios. The cost surfaces used for each scenario can be found in Appendix C. As a reminder, the scenarios as structured in the following manner as seen in Table 8 below. The hydrogen network and electricity grid costs are not compared to each other in the first sections, as they must be put into context of the whole system.

\mathbf{S} cenario	Description
Н	Offshore hydrogen production, hydrogen network, no spatial complexity
	(greenfield).
HSpa	Offshore hydrogen production, hydrogen network, spatial uses
HIInt	Offshore hydrogen production, hydrogen network, cost surface and existing infras -
	tructure. Interconnected network.
HIIso	Offshore hydrogen production, hydrogen network, cost surface and existing infras-
	tructure. Isolated networks.
E	Onshore hydrogen production, electricity grid, no spatial complexity
	(greenfield).
ESpa	Onshore hydrogen production, electricity grid, spatial uses .
EIInt	On shore hydrogen production, electricity grid, spatial uses and ${\bf existing infrastruc-}$
	ture. Interconnected network.
EIIso	Onshore hydrogen production, electricity grid, cost surface and existing infrastructure
	determines routing network. Isolated networks.
75H25E	75% offshore hydrogen production, $25%$ onshore hydrogen production.
	Spatial uses and existing infrastructure. Interconnected network.
50H25E	50% offshore hydrogen production, $50%$ on shore hydrogen production. Spatial uses
	and existing infrastructure. Interconnected network.
25H75E	25% offshore hydrogen production, $75%$ on shore hydrogen production. Spatial uses
	and existing infrastructure. Interconnected network.

Table 8: Scenario summary. The main changes between scenarios are highlighted in bold.

Figure 21 below highlights the general trends between the different scenarios, when compared to their base scenario (H for the hydrogen scenarios and E for the electricity scenarios). For hydrogen, the network costs are pipelines and compressors. For electricity, it is the HVDC cables, converters, offshore platforms and onshore stations. In the hydrogen scenarios (left), it decreases by around 50% when including the spatial uses (HSpa), but increases by around 10% for the HIIntand HIIso scenarios. For the electricity scenarios (right), the share of network costs in the LCOH increases greatly by nearly 100% when including spatial complexities (Espa). It is still 70% higher when reusing infrastructure and interconnected (EIInt). The costs are significantly less when



isolated (EIIso), but still 20% higher than the base scenario. These trends are explained further in the sections below.

Figure 21: Relative change in network costs for hydrogen scenarios (left) and electricity scenarios (right). The hydrogen scenarios are compared to the base scenario 'H', while the electricity scenarios are compared to the base scenario 'E'.

5.1 Spatial complexity

When including spatial complexities and creating a cost surface, the network costs increase for all scenarios. For the hydrogen scenario, this is due to the significant increase in network capacity-length, as highlighted in Table 9 and Figure 22. The total infrastructure capacity length (TICL) increases as the routing network must navigate around the spatial uses in the NS in the HSpa scenario, in comparison to the H scenario. This similarly happens for the respective electricity scenario (ESpa).

Figure 22a and b shows the results when a greenfield approach is used, where no spatial uses are considered and the optimiser connects the sources and sinks without use of a routing network (H,E - greenfield). The resulting hydrogen network is short, with large capacity pipelines of > 18 GW seen along the east coast of the UK, through the west and north of the Dutch EEZ and in the north of DE and DK. Interestingly, some OWF act like hubs for connecting multiple other farms, such as Search Area 1 in the west of the Dutch EEZ, or NS2 L10 in the south of the Danish EEZ. Most countries have a direct connection to their own OWF, with the exceptions of DE, where the OWF are firstly connected to the Dutch and Danish OWF. Also noteworthy is the smaller capacity connections (< 1 GW) to NO and DK, as their predicted hydrogen demand is much lower. The electricity grid looks very different to the hydrogen network, resulting in a star-like network with very long distance connections (such as Scotland to BE/NL) as seen in Figure 22b. These connections must be made to ensure that total supply = total demand across the network. The change in topology compared to the hydrogen network is due to the different cost-capacity exponent used for the scenarios. Electricity cables are given a value of 1, assuming that a linear cost-capacity relationship, with no cost benefits of using higher cable capacities. Pipelines are assigned 0.6 meaning that increasing capacity results in significant cost benefits. This explains the different network design in H and E, and why the capacity-length is greater for the hydrogen pipelines.

The hydrogen pipeline capacity-length increases and routing changes significantly when considering spatial uses as is seen in Figure 22c. Now, a large pipeline connection (10 GW) is seen from the east of the UK, travelling to the centre of the NS where it connects with the Norwegian and Danish OWF. This seems to be done in order to circumvent the high societal-cost ecological area (Doggers Bank) in the EEZ of the UK and NL. This carries on into the German EEZ where a major branch (18 GW) forks into the Dutch EEZ. In the UK, this major pipeline also splits into a tree-like structure with capacities of between 5 - 8 GW to connect the sources and the sinks.

When comparing the hydrogen network to the electricity network with spatial uses (Figure 22d), it is seen that they are very similar. However, a big difference is that NL is connected directly to the UK via a 9 GW connection, which did not exist previously. This is caused by the differences in the cost surfaces (see Appendix C). For ESpa, lower cost areas are defined in the south of the UK EEZ, where locations have been designated for installing power cables. Therefore, the model prefers these routes in comparison to the HSpa scenario, making connections like the one to Teesside (most central UK sink). On the other hand, in DK, areas have specifically been designated for future pipelines, which means this route is preferred by the model for the HSpa scenario, such as the connection made to the Danish sink (Nybro). The effects of the cost-capacity coefficient is also highlighted in the Figure 22d, where numerous additional connections are seen in ESpa compared to HSpa, such as the second connection to the Norwegian sinks. Interestingly, the capacity-lengths are greater for the electricity grids compared to the hydrogen networks in these scenarios. The reason for this is as there are more preferred routes for cables in the NS in comparison to pipelines. Thus, more deviations are made by the electricity grids to follow these lower-cost routes, resulting in a longer distance.

Table 9: Summary of total infrastructure capacity lengths (TICL) and total network costs for H, E, HSpa and ESpa scenarios.

Scenario	Н	HSpa	E	ESpa
Infrastructure type	Pipeline	Pipeline	Cable	Cable
TICL (TWkm)	32	48	27	52
Network cost (B \in)	15	22	87	113



Figure 22: a) Scenario H and b) scenario E (greenfield). c) Scenario HSpa and d) Scenario ESpa, where spatial uses are considered.

5.2 Reusing existing infrastructure

For hydrogen networks, reusing pipelines significantly decreases network costs in comparison to the scenario with spatial uses (HSpa). It is even slightly less than the base scenario (H). This is because large parts (80%) of the network are created from reusing existing pipeline or reusing corridors, as is shown by the TICL in Table 10 and Figure 23. Reusing existing pipelines provides a cost saving of 90%. For electricity grids, savings are made in comparison to the respective scenario with spatial uses (ESpa) as significant amounts of electricity cable corridors are reused (around 60% of the network). However, it is still costlier than the base case (E), as the corridor savings are not that significant (22%) and the TICL is much higher.

Figure 23a below shows the hydrogen network when it can reuse the existing infrastructure. Major connections of > 10 GW are now seen from the north of the UK EEZ to the Dutch and Norwegian EEZs, using large parts of the existing O&G network. The Danish and German OWF are more isolated and robustly interconnected with each other (with connections of > 5 GW), but very weakly connected to the rest of the NS hydrogen network (connections of < 1 GW). Interestingly, the Norwegian OWF are not directly connected to the shore, and instead receive their energy from the Danish OWF, which connects to the existing pipeline (of 0.9 GW). Notably in the Dutch EEZ, hydrogen pipelines are almost exclusively consisted of reusing old infrastructure, signifying the reuse potential in this area. Lastly, many of the O&G pipelines require capacity upgrades as they cannot transport all of the produced hydrogen from the vast amount of OWF capacity. This is highlighted in Table 10, where around 60% of the reused pipelines also reuse the pipeline corridor.

Although there are no reusable electricity cables in the NS, it is possible to reuse cable corridors. This is why the electricity grid in Figure 23b differs greatly to the pipeline network as well as the electricity network seen in Figure 22d. The previous large connection between the German EEZ and the UK EEZ is not used, and instead a large (19 GW) connection takes place from the north to south corridor in the UK. This then connects to the Norwegian and Danish EEZs from the south (with capacities of > 11 GW). The Dutch and Belgian OWF also share a common connection (of 38 GW) which joins the Danish and German EEZ. Similarly to the hydrogen network, the Norwegian sinks benefits from connections (0.1 GW) from another country, this time being the UK.

Scenario:	HIInt	EIInt
Infrastructure type	Pipeline	Cable
TICL (GWkm)	68	54
TICL (reuse) (GWkm)	39	
TICL (corridors) (GWkm)	18	34
Network cost (B \in)	14	113

Table 10: Summary of TICL for HIInt and EIInt scenarios.



Figure 23: a) Scenario HIInt and b) Scenario EIInt.

5.3 Isolated networks

For hydrogen networks, forcing isolation of networks between countries has no significant effect on the costs when compared to the *HIInt* scenario. This is counterintuitive, as the TICL is much lower in the *HIIso* scenario, as Table 11 and Figure 24 highlights. However, the amount of reused pipelines is also lower (less cost savings than *HIInt*), and the amount of reused corridors is higher (higher costs than *HIInt*). This means that the network costs between both scenarios stays very similar. The *HIInt* scenario increasingly benefits from the existing interconnection between countries (from the O&G network). For the electricity grid, forcing isolation (*EIIso*) results in a lower cost than in *EIInt* as the distance of the network is much less, and the cost saving benefits from reusing corridors (in *EIInt*) is not significant enough. Another factor which benefits the isolated scenarios is that a hydrogen grid or electricity network is not considered for BE, as no sources were included in the input data. This means that the cost saving is (relatively) negligible; around 0.6 B \in for the electricity grid and 0.1 B \in for the hydrogen network.

The isolated networks are seen below in Figure 24. Here, countries are only allowed to connect to the sources and sinks which are within their EEZ. In the Danish and German EEZs, the networks are similar in both the isolated scenarios (*HIIso* and *EIIso*). However, in the other countries, the

hydrogen network is very different due to reusing a lot of the existing pipeline infrastructure. For example, in the UK EEZ, the TICL of pipelines are much larger than the cables, as shown in Table 11. When comparing *HIIso* to the *HIInt*, similarities are seen such as the reuse of pipelines in the east of the UK EEZ, as well as the Dutch and German pipelines. However, the pipeline distance is much smaller. A considerable change is in the Norwegian EEZ, where the country's sources must now connect to its own sinks, rather than the other OWF in the NS. Additionally, it is not possible to reuse the large central pipeline corridor which travels along the border of all the EEZs.

Scenario:	HIIso				EIIso					
Infrastructure type:	Pipe	Pipeline			Cable					
Country	\mathbf{NL}	DE	DK	NO	UK	NL	DE	DK	NO	UK
ICL (TWkm)	13	7	1	3	24	14	7	2	1	17
ICL (reuse) (TWkm)	4	3	0	2	9					
ICL (corridors) (TWkm)	5	3	0	0	13	4	0	1	1	13
TICL (TWkm)	49					34				
TICL (reuse) (TWkm)	17									
TICL (corridors) (TWkm)	21					8				
Network cost (B \in)	14					93				

Table 11: Summary of (total) infrastructure capacity lengths ((T)ICL) and for HIIso and EIIso scenarios.



Figure 24: a) Scenario HIIso and b) Scenario EIIso.

The isolated electricity grid (*EIIso*) is also much shorter than the interconnected electricity grid (*EIInt*) (in Figure 23b), with the removal of the large connections (> 10 GW) seen from DK through DE and NL to the UK. The Danish network stays quite similar, whereas the Norwegian network is completely changed again, being forced to connect to its own sinks. Similarly, in the German EEZ, a large trunkline (22 GW) is now created connecting its far offshore sources to the offshore sinks. Interestingly, this is similar as to the *HIInt* scenario in Figure 23a, and is likely caused by the large preferred cable & pipeline route area set in the German MSP.

The effects of interconnecting compared to isolation for the individual countries are shown in Figure 25 (hydrogen) and Figure 26 (electricity) below. It is assumed that each country must pay for the technology installations which takes place in their own EEZ. Appendix C details the TICL changes for each country. In the graphs, a positive change from *Hnt* to *Iso* means that the system LCOH increases from the isolated to the interconnected scenarios. Also, a positive deviation from the average *Hnt* cost means that the country has a higher LCOH than the average.

For the hydrogen networks, it is seen that DK minorly benefits from interconnection (*HIInt*) rather than isolated network (*HIIso*), as they are able to reuse more pipelines at low costs. NL and especially NO has the opposite, where the LCOH is 17% lower with isolated networks. This is likely due to the large capacities (2 - 10 GW) of pipeline seen in the Norwegian EEZ, while it does not have a large hydrogen demand (1.4 GW) or supply (1.5 GW). The figure also shows that DE and DK would pay slightly less than the average network costs in the *HIInt* scenario. This is because the UK and NO pay larger shares, due to large parts of the network being in their EEZ, which is at no extra benefit to them.

For the electricity scenarios (Figure 26), slightly different trends are seen. All countries benefit from having isolated networks (*EIIso*) instead of interconnected networks (*EIInt*), following the trends seen in Table 10 and 11, where isolated electricity grids are cheaper than interconnected electricity grids. Interestingly, an isolated grid for DE is nearly as cost-effective as an interconnected grid, due to being able to reuse more corridors in this scenario (see differences in German EEZ in Figure 23b and Figure 24b). DE, NL and UK slightly benefit from a below average LCOH, whereas DK and NO have very large increases of 100% to 130%, respectively. This is due to both countries having to invest in very large connections (> 18 GW) in comparison to their hydrogen supply and demand (< 7 GW per country).

Overall, the effects on LCOH in the hydrogen scenarios are very small (besides NO), with only changes of a few percent. The effects are more pronounced in the electricity scenarios, as changes in network design have greater effects on the cost. In both scenarios, countries with greater OWF capacity such as the NL are least affected, while countries with the least OWF such as DK and NO are more affected. A small capacity of OWF means the LCOH is more sensitive to changes in system cost.



Figure 25: Hydrogen networks cost changes per country. In red (left columns), the % change in LCOH from an interconnected network (HIInt) to an isolated network (HIIso). In pink (right columns), the % deviation in LCOH from the average LCOH of the interconnected (HIInt) scenario.



Figure 26: Electricity grids costs changes per country. In green (left columns), the % change in LCOH from an interconnected grid (EIInt) to an isolated grid (EIIso). In blue (right columns), the % deviation in LCOH from the average LCOH of the interconnected (EIInt) scenario.

5.4 Levelised cost of hydrogen

Figure 27 shows the LCOH results from the different scenario runs, along with the breakdown of the system components. For a full breakdown, see Appendix C. The changes between the scenario types for both the hydrogen and electricity scenarios (..., Spa, IInt and IIso) match the results seen in the previous sections. Interestingly, the LCOH between all hydrogen and electricity scenarios is very similar, with only a 10% change between the highest and lowest. It is notable (as Figure 28 shows) that the costs of the hydrogen network have a very small share of the total LCOH (< 4%), whereas the HVDC cables have a much larger share (30%). This is what causes a greater variance in the electricity scenarios compared to the hydrogen scenarios in Figure 21. Nevertheless, the significant cost savings of using hydrogen pipelines instead of HVDC cables is counteracted by the high costs of the electrolyser platforms. Although the changes between scenarios are very small, some trends can be seen. The *HIInt* scenario is slightly less expensive than the *EIInt* scenario, due to the decrease in network costs of reusing infrastructure. However, the EIIso scenario is less expensive than the *HIIso* scenario, due to the investment costs saved through isolated networks. Lastly, the E scenario is cheaper than the H scenario. Comparing this last finding to all other scenarios, it highlights how the electricity scenarios are penalised to a greater extent for increases in capacity-lengths, when comparing to the hydrogen scenarios.



Figure 27: LCOH breakdown of all hydrogen-only and electricity-only scenarios.



Figure 28: Average share of network costs in LCOH for hydrogen (left) and electricity scenarios (right).

Due to the small changes in LCOH in all hydrogen-only and electricity-only scenarios, the integrated scenarios also change very minorly (as Figure 29 shows), increasing the LCOH of 0.7% when meeting half of the hydrogen demand on- and offshore. Interestingly, the costs increase slightly non-linearly with increased share of electricity. This is due to the network costs, where increasingly less savings are made moving away from using lower capacity hydrogen pipelines. The final mapped results of the integrated networks can be found in Appendix C.



Figure 29: Change in system LCOH for integrated scenarios, using HIInt as base scenario. H = hydrogen, E = electricity, numbers are percentages.

5.5 Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivities are present in the modelling methodology due to the manual selection of onshore sinks and the LCP and cost surface approach, which may cause unnecessary increases in capacity-lengths of the produced networks. In the post-optimisation cost calculation, significant uncertainties are present as the future technology costs and system design are highly predicted, which can affect the costs of on- or offshore hydrogen production. To investigate the effects on the different outcomes, a number of inputs and system components are varied. The scenario summary is seen in Table 12.

5.5.1 Sensitivity scenarios

Onshore transmission

It is likely that onshore transmission of hydrogen will also take place between sinks and between countries. However, reliable data on onshore pipeline locations and capacities is not readily available. Therefore, onshore connections are manually created in the existing infrastructure and are assigned high capacities. The connections are roughly based on the repurposed existing O&G pipelines defined in the European Hydrogen Backbone [59], as well as an estimation of the available capacity using the ENTSOG map [82]. Using the best scenario HIInt as a base, the optimisation is reran, creating an onshore transmission case (OnHIInt).

Offshore hydrogen components

The cost of installing and maintaining offshore hydrogen components is not well known and highly predicted, as no large scale (multi-GW) projects are (currently) planned or completed. An offshore cost multiplier is assigned to all offshore components to see its effects on the cost. Specifically, this multiplier is assigned to platforms (for electrolysers), offshore desalination units, offshore electrolysers and offshore compressors. Offshore cost additions of 25% and 50% are used (similarly as in [27]). Additionally, a scenario is created to reflect the possible decrease in costs of sandy energy islands ($0.5 \text{ M} \in /\text{MW}$ electrolyser capacity) over electrolyser platforms ($0.9 \text{ M} \in /\text{MW}$ electrolyser capacity) [21]. The best scenario (*HIInt*) is used as a base case, creating the sensitivity scenarios *IslHIInt*, *25HIInt*, and *50HIInt*.

Network costs

As the optimisation output maps show, there are overestimated bends in pipelines and cables in all scenarios, due to the LCP modelling technique. To account for these, we can assume a length correction factor (LCF) of dividing the lengths with $\sqrt{2}$, which gives the diagonal (Hypotenuse) length of a right angled turn. This is done for *HIInt* and *EIInt*, giving the sensitivity scenarios *LCFHIInt* and *LCFEIInt*, respectively. Additionally, it is assumed in this study that no significant cost-benefits are seen from increasing cable capacity. An economic scaling factor of 0.8 is applied using the costs of the current largest HVDC cable (2 GW), where increases in capacity lead to cost benefits. This is done for the *EIInt* scenario, creating 0.8*EIInt*.

\mathbf{S} ensitivity scenario	Description
OnHIInt	Onshore reuse of O&G infrastructure is allowed.
IslHIInt	Energy island costs used for electrolyser platforms.
25HIInt	Offshore hydrogen components have a cost addition of 25% .
50HIInt	Offshore hydrogen components have a cost addition of 50% .
LCFHIInt	Pipelines are corrected for overestimated bends.
LCFEIInt	Cables are corrected for overestimated bends.
0.8EIInt	Cables are applied a cost scaling factor of 0.8.

Table 12: Summary of sensitivity scenarios.

5.5.2 Sensitivity analysis results

Figure 30 shows the effects of changing the parameters on the system LCOH. As the graph shows, the OnHIInt scenario is not significantly different to the HIInt scenario, with only a very minor change in cost. Table 13 and Figure 31 below detail the changes. When using the energy island cost factor (IslHIInt) significant savings are made, with the system becoming cheaper than the lowest cost electricity scenarios (E and EIIso). However, if the hydrogen components are underestimated by 25% (25HIInt) they become slightly more expensive than the EIInt scenario. If this increases to 50% (50HIInt), then the hydrogen system becomes significantly more expensive. This is due to the large share of platform costs in the LCOH, as shown in Figure 27. When the LCF is used, there are very small savings for the hydrogen system LCOH (LCFHIInt). However, when using the LCF for the electricity grid LCOH (LCFEIInt), the LCOH breaks even and becomes slightly cheaper than HIInt. This is due to the high costs of the electricity cables in comparison to the hydrogen system pipelines, where larger savings are made with decreases in distance. Lastly, when applying the scaling factor to electricity cables 0.8EIInt, the savings are not that significant, and the costs are still minorly higher than HIInt.

Table 13 highlights how the OnHIInt scenario has a lower system and network LCOH cost, as more pipelines are reused at low costs. However, the costs only show a 0.4% change in the system LCOH, with a 13% change in the network LCOH. This is because the OnHIInt reuses more pipelines than the HIInt scenario, as shown in Table 13. In terms of the routing, Figure 31 below shows the different outcome of allowing onshore transmission. Comparing this to HIInt(Figure 10a), all sinks besides St Fergus in the north of the UK have an onshore connection. However, most sinks also have an offshore connection as well, excluding sinks such as Kollsnes (NO's northernmost sink) and Brunsbüttel in DE. In NL, the network design changes significantly, where Zeeland, Maasvlakte and Ijmuiden have no offshore connections. The main large (> 18 GW) onshore connections are seen in the south east of the UK which connects to BE, as well as Zeeland and Maasvlakte in the south of NL. Additionally, sizable (> 8 GW) connections are seen along the



Figure 30: LCOH breakdown of sensitivity scenarios, compared with hydrogen (HIInt) and electricity (E, EIInt, EIIso) scenarios. HIInt is used as the base, with a value of $2.07 \notin$ /kg. The hydrogen sensitivity scenarios are on the left (red) and electricity sensitivity scenarios on the right (green).

north coast of NL, connecting also to Dornum in DE. Overall it can be seen that both the onshore and offshore components of hydrogen is likely to play a significant role in a NS-region hydrogen network.

Table 13: Sta	atistics of OnHIIn	$ t \ and \ the \ change \\$	$compared\ to$	$H\!I\!nt\ scenario.$
---------------	--------------------	------------------------------	----------------	-----------------------

Parameter	OnHIInt	% change to <i>HIInt</i>
Infrastructure type:	Pipeline	
System LCOH (\in /kg):	2.06	-0.4%
Network LCOH (€/kg):	0.10	-13%
TICL (TWkm):	77	13%
TICL (reuse) (TWkm):	53	35%
TICL (corridors) (TWkm):	19	5%



Figure 31: Effects of allowing reuse of onshore O&G pipeline for hydrogen network.

6 Discussion

6.1 Results

6.1.1 System costs

The cost results suggest that hydrogen networks are cost-competitive with electricity grids to transport offshore wind energy to shore, when hydrogen is the end use. This is supported in the literature [20, 23, 25, 24]. The main driver for this result is that the electricity grids have high costs of long-distance, large-capacity connections in comparison to hydrogen pipelines. For hydrogen, the main cost is due to the offshore hydrogen components, namely the electrolyser and electrolyser platform. However, as the sensitivity analysis highlights, there are many uncertain parameters which can sway the costs slightly in favour for electricity grids or for hydrogen networks. Thus, it is unwise to conclude that either one of the systems is undoubtedly cheaper than the other. Nevertheless, an interesting overarching finding from these comparisons is that even with uncertainties and sensitivities, the costs between the systems stay reasonably similar. This suggests that both options could be attractive from an LCOH perspective, and that other socio-economic and energy system aspects are more important to consider in further analysis.

One of these aspects is the uncertainty of large-scale hydrogen production and transportation, due to the immaturity of the technologies. It is assumed that over 100 GW of electrolyser capacity can be installed in the NS between 2040 and 2050 which is challenging, considering that the EU only have goals of 40 GW of electrolysers by 2030 [39]. For example, the extraction rate of iridium, a rare metal used for PEM electrolysers, currently limits the production rate of electrolyser to 3-7.5 GW/year, at a technical maximum [158]. Although cost decreases are expected due to learning and economies of scale, increases in demand could also cause material scarcity and drive up costs, resulting in more expensive offshore hydrogen networks. Although much work has been done by the NSE programmes, the costs of offshore electrolysers and platforms are still highly estimated. On the other hand, the costs for offshore platforms for electrolysis could be significantly less if considering sandy energy islands as is captured in the *IslHIInt* scenario in the sensitivity analysis, where offshore hydrogen network costs become competitive with the lowest-cost electricity grid scenario (E). It would be beneficial to see the final cost effects of larger offshore hydrogen pilot projects in the future such as H_2OpZee . Learning this project, policies could be developed to either support (through subsidies) or limit the commercialisation of offshore hydrogen (networks), dependant on the outcomes.

Bringing electricity to shore has added value as it can provide more flexibility in the energy system, as is similarly argued by the German TSOs in the discussion on offshore hydrogen [142]. It can be used directly, stored in batteries or converted to hydrogen, depending on the demands and opportunities of the surrounding environment. This added value of bringing electricity to shore is not considered in this analysis, but should be considered if looking at the whole energy system. Hydrogen also offers this flexibility, but at increased energy losses, due to the low efficiency of converting hydrogen back to electricity. For example, converting from electricity to hydrogen to electricity results in losses of around 50% [159], whereas bringing electricity to shore (in this study) leads to losses of only 3.5%.

Knowing this, it suggests that integrating hydrogen networks and electricity grids is beneficial, simultaneously providing the benefits of both systems, such as cost savings from the hydrogen network and flexible supply from the electricity grid. The effects of integrated networks on total cost were investigated, showing minute increases in cost due to the similarity of the LCOH for both systems. This reinforces the case for system integration, and following research could expand on this by creating integrated grids based on different sources in the NS to explore potential cost-savings. For example, an electricity grid could be created from sources which are less than a certain distance from shore (e.g. 100 km [21, 16]), while a hydrogen network is created with remaining, far-offshore sources. To go a step further, a hub-and-spoke concepts as suggested by the NSWPH [160] could be used to lower infrastructure capacity-lengths, instead of two fully connected electricity and hydrogen networks, as analysed in this study. Also left out of the scope of this analysis is the potential of offshore salt cavern storage, which could provide additional benefits such as energy flexibility and storage for hydrogen, which were not captured in this study.

Comparing the final LCOH results to the literature, it is seen that the costs are moderately lower, as shown in Figure 32 below, ranging between 1.95 to $2.15 \in /\text{kg H2}$. Importantly, the cost values found from this study are more useful for a comparing to each other rather than to other studies, as the goal is to show the differences between network designs. Nevertheless, the costs in this study are lower due to using 2040 techno-economic value estimates of OWF and electrolysers, which leads to lower total system costs and higher amounts of hydrogen production. For example, the study by Yan et al. [24] considered OWF costs in 2020, whereas this study uses 2040 estimates from the Danish Energy Agency. Interestingly, when comparing the 50H50E and EIInt scenario with the 6GW/4GW and 10GW onshore scenarios defined in a report on grid-integration powerto-gas [160], the trends are the same in both studies. The costs between an integrated scenario and purely electric scenario are very similar, with the integrated scenario leading to slightly lower costs.

For hydrogen pipeline transportation, the LCOH for transportation varies between 11 (reused pipelines - *HIInt*) to 15 (new pipelines *HIIso*) $c \in /kg$ H2 over a distance of 4000 to 8000 km. This is less than the cost seen in the recent EHB report, where offshore pipelines have a LCOH between 17 to 32 $c \in /kg$ H2 over a distance of 1000 km [59]. The costs in this study are less because:

1. The average pipeline size is greater in this study than the three capacities considered in the EHB, leading to a lower average cost.



Figure 32: Comparison of LCOH (in \in /kg) to values found in literature for offshore hydrogen production and transportation to shore.

2. The EHB report assumes a pipeline capacity use of 75%, whereas this study assumes it is 100%. When comparing to a 100% capacity utilisation in the previous EHB report [161], the values are more comparable: a new hydrogen pipelines is around 21 c€/kg H2 and repurposed pipelines are around 9 c€/kg H2.

The share of network costs in the LCOH for the electricity grid scenarios varies between 0.53 to $0.71 \notin$ /kg H2. Although this is difficult to compare, a comparison of the network investment costs can be made to the recent study by Jansen et al. [78]. Here, investment costs of 20 - 30 B€are expected for the transmission infrastructure of a 30 GW NS electricity grid hub, connecting all countries. Extrapolating this to this project (103 GW), this would be around 60 - 90 GW. The costs in this report are slightly higher, around 87 - 116 B€. However, when applying the LCF to the results with spatial complexity, the values vary between 65 - 82 B€, similar to [78]. This suggests that the cost values found in this study are a good estimation.

6.1.2 Spatial complexity

The E scenario is the cheapest scenario out of all scenarios. However, the feasibility of this network is called into question, as the resulting network has a very large length and spatial footprint as seen in Figure 33 below. The resulting network intersect multiple high-cost spatial uses at multiple points, such as the large ecological area (Doggers Bank) shown in the figure. Furthermore, relatively low capacity and long distance connections such as between BE and Scotland are unlikely to be realised as they are not feasible (see further discussion below). A real similar network would incur greater losses as well, as the individual edges have greater lengths, which increase the electrical losses [150]. However, this is not shown in this study, as a singular energy loss value is used for all distances.



Figure 33: Electricity grid (scenario E), intersecting multiple high-cost areas in the cost surface.

The capacity-length increase from a greenfield to spatial uses approach is similarly found in the results of Boerhout [127]. Although difficult to model, this consideration of spatial uses is very important, especially with the future increase in OWF and protected areas in the NS. Specifically, the EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030 states that 30% of the sea must be protected and 10% of the sea must be protected from multi-use, meaning no infrastructure could be placed in it [162]. MSP can be an important tool to integrate these areas and the suggested infrastructure connections. In fact, this study is intertwined with MSP, as it uses the spatial inputs defined by NS-region countries' respective MSPs, and proposes possible infrastructure routing options, which, in turn, could be used as inputs for updating ensuing MSPs. During a recent conference by the European MSP Platform, some of the key takeaways were 1) social and environmental aspects must be taken into account, 2) it will be very challenging to integrate all the future OWF, and 3) there needs to be rapid adaption and imagination to protect biodiversity [163]. The large infrastructure networks visualised in this study complement and reinforce the key takeaways from this conference. The interaction of MSPs and network planning should play an integral role in the future planning of protected areas and OWF.

6.1.3 Reusing infrastructure

The benefit of reusing existing O&G pipelines in the NS is apparent, leading to around a 40% decrease in network costs for an interconnected hydrogen network, even though the total capacitylength increases. This reinforces the results found by Boerhout [127] for the Dutch NS. However, on a system level, this saving is very small, due to the small percentage of pipeline cost in the system cost. An unaccounted benefit (in this study) for reusing pipelines is that it is less intrusive on the surrounding environment, which is an important aspect considering the increase in protected areas [120]. The electricity scenarios do not, and likely will not benefit from a reuse potential in the NS, except through corridors. Designating wide, internationally interconnected electricity corridors which allow placing of multiple cables would be extremely beneficial for an offshore electricity grid. This would limit the routing deviations and thus decrease costs and spatial footprint of connections. Furthermore, further research could elaborate on the real cost savings of reusing corridors and preferred cable and pipeline routes which are defined in MSPs. This would lead to different network topologies and costs.

The resulting maps give ideas on the main trunklines and main reuse potential of both hydrogen and electricity. However, these routes must not be considered as final, optimal routes, but rather indications of seemingly beneficial connections for countries in the NS region, which can feed in to discussions on future infrastructure planning. A similar, more detailed approach was completed for The Crown Estate, where different interactions of offshore electricity cable set-ups with spatial uses were considered [164]. For more robust results, a Monte Carlo-type modelling approach such as by Huisman [66] could be used to identify the most used corridors and connections. Nevertheless, for hydrogen pipelines, a few commonly made connections are:

- From the OWF in the German EEZ towards the south east, connecting to Dornum.
- Reuse of the Nybro pipeline (corridor) from the Danish OWF to Nybro.
- Reuse of the Dutch pipeline corridors, going from west to east.

Interestingly, these connections (and specifically connections from the *HIInt* scenario) reinforce the connections which are sketched out by the EHB report seen in Figure 34:

- From the German OWF towards the south east.
- A similar connection hub in the North of the NS.
- Connections between Bacton (south east of UK) with Zeebrugge (BE) and with Den Helder (NL).
- Use of the Langeled pipeline from the coast of the UK towards the northern hub, with a new connection to the Berwick Bank OWF on the way.
- Connection of the Sørlige Nordsjø (Norwegian OWF) to the north-south backbone.

For the electricity cables, a few connections commonly seen are:

- From the OWF in the German EEZ towards the south east, connecting to Dornum.
- From the north of the UK EEZ, down to the south along the coast, reusing a possible future electricity cable corridor.



Figure 34: Outlined connections in the NS in the EHB report [59].

The sensitivity analysis shows that significant onshore connections are made when onshore connections are allwoed, and also shows which sinks may not need an offshore connection, such as Maasvlakte in NL. Although the effect on the system cost is very small (0.4%), it does decrease network costs by 22%. Additionally, the spatial footprint in the NS would be decreased significantly. On the other hand, reusing onshore pipelines may be more expensive [56, 59], which would favour a greater reuse of offshore pipelines. The same is true for onshore electricity cables, which could reduce the costs significantly in favour of offshore electricity grids. However, this might be slightly less likely, as much of the onshore grid is already overloaded in the NS-region, and is expected to worsen in the future. For example, Brown et al. [165] estimate a need of grid expansion of up to 6.5 times the current capacity to meet the needs of a fully renewable electric system. Existing onshore networks will need to be included in further research. To facilitate this, accurate onshore data on existing infrastructure locations, capacities and reuse costs should be made publicly available.

6.1.4 Interconnection between countries

For electricity grids, the costs increase with forced interconnection in comparison to forced isolation, as the cable length is significantly higher. However, it must be noted that this is purely from an investment perspective, and that the results are not a conclusive reason to avoid interconnection. In fact, interconnection between countries can provide energy security, possibilities of offshore trading, and grid balancing/flexibility [68, 72, 76]. These benefits are harder to quantify (besides grid balancing), and were not considered in this study. Nevertheless, the results do show that careful planning of interconnection is needed to avoid high costs. This planning includes the routing of infrastructure, but also which countries to interconnect, as well as the capacity of the interconnecting different pairs or sets of countries could be done, such as a NL-DE-DK only scenario, based on the NSWPH and the Esbjerg Declaration [81, 14]. Additionally, to avoid high investment costs of additional converters, connections could be further specified to countries which use the same voltage levels for offshore wind farms and subsea cables.

Careful planning of interconnection design is needed as well to avoid the unbalanced allocation of costs to each country [72, 73]. This is exemplified in this study through a simple approach where each country must pay for the technology which takes place in its country. The results show that DK, NO and the UK countries pay disproportionate amounts of the costs, in comparison to the benefits which they receive from the interconnected network. Similarly, NO also benefits from an isolated approach, rather than an interconnected one. This is particularly interesting, as when interconnection takes place, the far-offshore Norwegian OWF are not connected to their own sinks, and rather connect to some other part of the network, suggesting that interconnection would be useful on this occasion. Yet, the costs increase when deploying an interconnected network, compared to an isolated one, as they must invest in large capacity-distance connections. This example exemplifies the limitation of the modelling (further discussed below) as well as in the approach of forcing countries to pay for the technologies within their own EEZ. However, it also sparks an interesting conversation about how interconnected network costs could be allocated between countries. Here, future policies may be useful to define that countries should pay costs which are reflected in their expected benefits e.g., by restricting the change in expected LCOH costs between countries to a certain percentage.

Interconnection is challenging to implement, increasing the time and costs of projects, as more procedural aspects need to be taken into account. For example, it took around 13 years to plan the Nord Stream pipeline, as it had to route through numerous EEZ of (non-)European countries [166]. Planning of the Nord Stream 2 pipeline also took 7 years, even though it was being constructed next to the first connection. In the NS, there are 8 different EEZ, with large parts being owned by NO and the UK (two non-EU countries). Considering this aspect of time and the 2050 decarbonisation goals, interconnections should be planned carefully and executed quickly, to reduce the time and costs of projects. It could be argued that hydrogen pipelines may be more beneficial in this sense, as the interconnection largely already exists between countries, possibly reducing the procedural aspects when compared to new interconnections. On the other hand, pipelines require full inspection and adaption on a case by case basis, before being able to transport hydrogen [167]. Future research could include this regulatory time-dimension aspect for 2050 decarbonisation when comparing interconnected hydrogen networks and electricity grids.

In this study, it is assumed that regulations exist to facilitate this interconnection. In reality, much regulatory support and harmonisation is strongly needed to facilitate interconnection on a NS-level [80, 72]. Additional hurdles are expected when considering system integration of electricity grids and hydrogen networks. In a recent NSE conference on this topic, it was made clear that there is a distinct lack of regulatory frameworks which support energy hubs or infrastructure connections between countries and sectors, on a national and EU level [168, 169]. Similar results are also seen on an international level, where the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS) [170] does not give specific support on these aspects [171]. This suggests that rapid development of regulations is needed to support this integrated interconnection approach. The 3 GW offshore energy island in the Danish NS will be an interesting case to observe these developments, as it is planned to be operational in 2030, with international connections made in the following years.

Besides the regulatory support, challenges also face the actual planning of energy infrastructure interconnection as it is inexorably linked to the harmonization of MSP. Some harmonisation for MSPs is already done following the Espoo Convention, which requires countries to investigate the effects of near-border projects at an early stage of implementation [171, 172]. Examples of these are the alignment of OWF locations and shipping routes between NL, DE and DK (see Figure 16 and 17). More collaboration between NS-region countries on an MSP level is necessary, as was similarly concluded in the recent European MSP conference [163]. This could be done by defining

wide corridors for cables and pipelines as is done by the Belgian and German MSPs. Specifically, policies should be developed where these corridors can be harmonized across countries, creating a future offshore backbone for energy transportation.

6.2 Limitations

6.2.1 Cost surface and least cost paths

Using spatial uses to create routing networks is an interesting approach to including stakeholder preferences in spatial energy modelling, as connections are created which avoid high-cost zones such as ecological areas. Similar exercises of prioritisation of spatial uses using stakeholder inputs is seen in the literature such as by Middleton et al. [173]. In a NS-context it is done by ARUP [174] for OWF in the UK, as well as during the creation of the German MSP [175]. These types of exercises must be done cautiously, as weighing values are contended and reaching a general consensus which fulfils all stakeholders needs is difficult. In reality, routing through the defined 'high societal-cost zones' may only cause modest increases in monetary costs [176]. This begs the question of which monetary cost is greater, routing around a protected area, or undertaking the extra procedures, time and costs required to route through it. This cost increase is difficult to represent and model as values vary on a case by case basis, as was found by Thoonsen [128]. In fact, Middleton et al. [173] point out that no studies had generated cost surfaces using real cost values. Further research would do well to establish some common values for installing infrastructure.

In this study, weighing values are extrapolated from the Dutch EEZ to the rest of the NS EEZs. Importantly, NS-region countries have differing views and priorities on spatial uses and infrastructure [177]. Efforts were made (see Appendix B) to reach out to the maritime authorities to provide opinions and expertise on weighing values of spatial uses. Expanding the scope proved difficult as MSP authorities were unable to fully participate in the short time period of the project. Discussions were completed (see Appendix B) with the European MSP platform [177], the Danish Maritime Authority (DMA) [178] and the Marine Management Organisation (MMO) of the UK [176]. It was found that:

- 1. Commenting on weighing values for spatial uses is unpractical without the collaboration of multiple ministries and stakeholders, similarly as what is done for MSP.
- 2. Policy documents on MSPs can offer clues and ideas on the prioritisation of spatial uses.

Although good suggestions were given on the importance of differing spatial uses, it was decided not to manually change the weighing values as not enough information was provided. Further research could solely focus on successfully collecting expert input from all countries and completing this analysis, similarly done for OWF in the NS [179], in the UK EEZ [174], and in Turkey [180]. For pipelines, the Nord Stream projects may be useful for this as examples of long connections intersecting the EEZ of multiple European countries [166]. More updated reports for the Nord Stream 2 projects were also available, but are currently removed due to the postponement of the project, following the invasion of Ukraine by Russia.

Not all spatial uses are considered in the cost surfaces. Fishing, a widespread important activity in the NS is not included as it a dynamic activity. This makes it difficult to pinpoint exact locations to it, or to apply a weighing value. An attempt of this was made by Guşatu et al. [179], where 'intense' fishing locations were chosen based on the density of fishing hours in certain areas. This approach could be adopted in future research. Physical changes in the sea are also left out of scope of this study, such as the bathymetry or substrate type, which also has effects on the routing and costs of infrastructure. This has been attempted onshore by Johnson and Ogden [93], who included slope in their optimisation of a hydrogen pipeline. However, as with other spatial uses, the costs associated with physical changes are difficult to capture as they vary on a case by case basis.

Reusing infrastructure can also cause extra costs due to crossings, where a pipeline or cable must cross one or the other [181]. This could be implemented by including other infrastructure in the creation of cost surfaces, or by identifying line features as barriers/corridors within cells when using LCPs [106]. On the other hand, synergies could be created, where cables and pipelines could use the same corridors, as is suggested by the German and Belgian MSP areas. Telecom cables could be included in this analysis as well, as they are also widespread in the NS [182]. Lastly, other spatial effects of installing technologies on large scale such as electrolysers are not considered. which would take up a further 2 km^2 in the NS [151], without taking the required 500m buffer zone into account [170]. It is important to include this as well if to have a holistic, MSP-like view on all spatial uses and offshore infrastructure. The resolution of the cost surface was simplified in comparison to the work by Boerhout [127] from 1 to 10 km grid cells, to ensure a moderate solution time for the candidate networks and ONL model. A higher cell count means that LCPs have to consider more cells before finding an optimal answer (see Section 3). The LCP approach could be further improved by introducing a 32-cell neighbourhood instead of 8, which decreases costs by 8% and creates a more accurate route [116, 183]. The A^{*} algorithm can complete LCPs, more accurately as is done by Balaji and Rabiei [111]. Using this algorithm would also reduce the amounts of unexpected routing deviations created from the QGIS Least-Cost-Path algorithm, such as in the connection seen between the Norwegian OWF and sink in Figure 35. The A* algorithm could do this as it is a more targeted approach, simultaneously reducing the costs as well as the distance from its target.

Using cost surfaces and LCPs creates overestimated bends in output maps, where clear 90° turns are seen, as is seen below in Figure 35. In reality, transmission pipelines have a minimum bend radius of 1000 times the diameter of the pipeline [184, 185]. The effects of these bends on the capacity-lengths and costs were moderate, where the system LCOH decreases around 3% when dividing the interconnected electricity scenario (*EIInt*) by the LCF ($\sqrt{2}$). It is suggested that
these bends are taken into account in future research by techniques such as Laplacian smoothing [186, 128] or by ArcGIS smoothening algorithms [111]. However, Antikainen [183], argues that the cost-saving effects of improving LCPs to be more accurate are small in comparison to the uncertainties of using the approach itself. An alternative method to avoid this LCP approach completely could be by using the obstacle function of the model by Heijnen et al. [129], where the optimisation solution space is limited by prohibiting the model to route through certain areas. This reaches a similar goal as the LCP approach in this study, especially for very high-cost areas (such as nature areas), as the LCP rarely route through them. This approach is seen in Heijnen et al. [187], and is currently being undertaken for hydrogen networks in the NS by Van Tongeren [188].



Figure 35: Overestimated 90° bends in HSpa scenario.

6.2.2 Optimal network layout

Decreasing the resolution of the cost surface also reduces the amount of node pairs for the ONL model [129], which is useful for smaller sets of data, with 10s to 100s of nodes. The number of node pairs in this project is in the thousands, causing model runs of several hours. Consequently, further research could attempt to reduce the amount of input nodes to the optimisation, such as by using the smoothing or obstacle approach defined above.

To find optimal networks, the ONL model uses an 'edge-swap' algorithm which iteratively swaps high-cost connections to a different connection while maintaining capacity, to see if a lower total network cost can be reached. This procedure does not guarantee a global minima, and could be improved by using an improved technique such as the High Valency Shuffle from Yeates et al. [131], where multiple edges are swapped at once, reaching more optimal solutions.

The ONL requires that total supply = total demand for all nodes in the optimisation, which leads to unrealistic long-distance, low capacity connections between Scotland and BE/NL in Figure 33. These type of connections are unlikely to materialise in reality, as they would more likely connect to a closer point. Here, a similar approach as by Heijnen et al. [187] could be used, where the expected worth of pipeline connections is calculated. The optimised network is a maximisation of that worth, thus low-worth connections are deleted. A similar approach is used by Huisman [66] where connections between sources and sinks are only made if it leads to a positive net present value (NPV) for that connection. These approaches could reduce overinvestments in capacity, and possibly result in networks with more realistic topology, without overly increasing the model complexity and running time.

6.2.3 Existing infrastructure

Editing was required to the existing pipelines dataset from EMODnet due to the impreciseness of the data. Automated QGIS tools (Snap to grid, Simplify, Delete duplicate geometries, Explode) were used to create a complete network from the dataset (Figure 36), which is required as an input to the ONL model in the methodology of this study. Automation was used as the dataset is very large (thousands of pipelines), yet means that there might be faulty or lacking pipeline connections. Efforts were made to prevent this through additional manual editing of the data, but there is no guarantee that the attempts were exhaustive. For further research purposes, EMODnet and NS-region countries should work together to improve the datasets on offshore infrastructure.

Edits were also made to add possible connection points from the sources to the existing infrastructure. This was done by creating nodes along the O&G infrastructure and running LCPs between these nodes and the sources. This allowed identification of points along the existing infrastructure were it is beneficial for a connection. After identification, minutely-angled artificial inflection points were created in the infrastructure. This allows the candidate networks model to identify these inflection points as a new edge segment, which is necessary to create the correct node pairs as inputs for the ONL. However, this manual approach means that not all connection points are inserted in an optimal location, and leads to differences in the visual results, such as between the *EIInt* and *EIIso* scenarios. Here, *EIInt* uses the existing infrastructure node data whereas the *EIIso* uses the LCP routing data, yet both follow the same route and have the same cost savings of doing so. Additionally, the real location of these connection points could be dependent on bathymetry, proximity to existing offshore O&G platforms or type/quality of pipeline. Future research could simplify and autonomise the approach of creating connecting points from sources to existing infrastructure, as well as include other criteria such as the ones mentioned above.



Figure 36: Example of the changes between starting and final dataset of offshore O&G pipelines.

The HHV of hydrogen was used to convert the pipeline diameter to capacity and the compressor

powers required leading to a slightly lower cost (15% compared to using lower heating value (LHV), as hydrogen has a higher energy content per mass. However, as both components have very low costs, the effects on the total LCOH are negligible. Additionally, pipelines may have a higher diameter to capacity conversion if they are able to transport at a faster flow rate (e.g. 50 m/s) [136], which would lead to reduction of needed capacity in pipelines. It is likely that this would decrese the total capacity-lengths and costs of the hydrogen network in the NS, but further research is required to confirm this.

For O&G pipelines, it is optimistically assumed they will all be possible to reuse starting from 2040, which might not be the case, as currently only DK has pledged to stop O&G production in the NS [189]. Additionally, existing pipelines may be used for the transportation of CCS. For the electrical infrastructure, it is assumed that all the planned and search areas reported by 4C Offshore will be realised, which is highly likely to differ in the future. It is uncertain whether corridors can be reused as well. For example, in the UK, there is currently no regulatory backing for multi-use of electrical infrastructure corridors [176]. Further research should concentrate on detailing when and which infrastructure (corridors) could be reused for the purposes of bringing energy to shore. Additionally, regulatory and policy support are required to promote this multi-use of infrastructure corridors.

6.2.4 System boundaries and scenarios

As the model is static, it is assumed that all infrastructure is built at once. This will not happen in reality, as construction of large projects of pipelines alone take 2-3 years to realise [166], without taking into account the OWF and other infrastructure. A modular build out such as suggested by NSWPH [160] will be more probable, which provides and answers a more natural growth in supply and demand. This growth is not constant either, with fluctuations on the scale of seconds to years. Fluctuations also vary spatially across the NS, as there are slight variations in wind speed [190]. To account for this, maximum supply and demand values were chosen, i.e., the pipeline and cable infrastructure were designed to be able to transport the maximum rated power output of the OWF. Although this ensures no curtailment, it also might lead to overinvestments in capacity. Further research could find more applicable infrastructure capacities by using more detailed supply (through wind speeds) and demand (specific industrial cluster processes), to resize the infrastructure to more appropriate capacities. In fact, this could further benefit the case for offshore hydrogen, as electrolyser could be downsized (sometimes running on overcapacity [27]) and pipeline capacities could decrease (while using their linepacking ability for short term storage [191]) leading to decreases in cost.

The approach to supply and demand in this study is to normalise the demand of hydrogen to the supply, on the basis that onshore demand will always be greater than offshore supply. This is useful, as it reduces the need of finding exact demand data, which is highly uncertain due to the diverse and contested uses of hydrogen [35, 192]. The approach places more importance on the spatial difference of hydrogen demand, which is easier to define compared to exact values due to the locations of existing industrial hubs and population densities [153]. However, this approach disregards the spatio-temporal variability of hydrogen supply and demand, where certain regions and countries might develop their offshore hydrogen supply and demand at different time horizons. For example, in NL, Gasunie [193] have planned a hydrogen backbone for 2030, which is contrasted with NO, where plans are not nearly as ambitious or developed [59].

To account for the spatio-temporal dependency of infrastructure investments and supply and demand patterns, it is possible to use a step-wise approach (e.g. 2030, 2040 and 2050), where the model inputs can be set to the expected supply and demand each year. Additionally, it would be possible to use the infrastructure built in 2030 as an input for 2040, and so forth. To go even further, the model could take into account future increases in demand, and invest in overcapacitated infrastructure connections to account for the expected demand. Such an approach is done by Middleton et al. [115]. However, this becomes a very complex MILP optimisation, which usually take very long to find an optimal solution [194]. Even then, the optimal answer is highly unlikely to be the real network, considering the future uncertainties of hydrogen and network development [195]. These uncertainties can be taken into account by following a Monte-Carlo type approach for supply and demand, such as such as by [66]. However, due to the optimisation running time, it was not practical to run a large number of simulations in this project.

Manually choosing terminal nodes (sources and sinks) also limits the scope of outputs to the model. By 2040, other OWF areas will be defined, and some speculated OWF may be cancelled. Furthermore, other offshore energy components such as floating solar (e.g. Oceans of Energy [196], wave, and tidal energy may also become a significant part of an offshore energy system. Energy islands were also left out of scope when determining the source nodes. Future research should attempt to tackle this as they are likely to play a key role in interconnection in the NS, supporting a hub-and-spoke network design. Additionally, it would significantly change the routing and costs, as more pre-defined pathways would be chosen. Determining the sinks for offshore connections could be improved by finding the onshore transport capacities, as mentioned previously. Lastly, the scope excluded offshore storage in salt caverns as well as offshore O&G platforms. Knowing that hydrogen storage in salt cavern in the NS is a very attractive option (see [32]) it would be beneficial to include this in the optimisation, creating connections to these areas. Similarly, the reuse potential of offshore O&G platforms for electrolysers or converters could also be considered, providing synergies and decreasing costs.

7 Conclusions and recommendations

7.1 Conclusions

The aim of this thesis project was to design and compare hydrogen networks with electricity grids in the North Sea (NS), taking into account spatial complexities, the potentials of reusing existing infrastructure and the effects of interconnection. Such networks will be vital in the coming years to transport the vast amounts of future offshore wind energy to shore, aiding NS-region countries in reaching their decarbonisation goals by 2050. To fulfil the aims of this thesis, a number of research questions are answered.

1. How do spatial complexities and the reuse of existing infrastructures affect energy infrastructure routing and network costs when compared to a greenfield approach?

Spatial complexities increase the capacity-length of a network by around 50% to 90%, when compared to a greenfield approach. This is because the network must route around defined high cost spatial uses, which increases the length. This also leads to cost increases in comparison to the greenfield approach. These trends are seen both for the hydrogen networks and electricity grids. Reusing existing infrastructure increases the capacity-length of the networks, compared to the scenarios with spatial uses. However, the cost decreases due to the potential of reusing infrastructure at lower costs than new investing in infrastructure.

- For the hydrogen network scenarios, costs for reusing are 40% less than the scenario with spatial uses, and even 10% cheaper than the greenfield approach, due to 84% of the network reusing the existing oil & gas (O&G) pipelines in the NS. Of the reused pipelines, 68% require upgrades in capacity.
- For the electricity grid scenarios, the costs are still higher when reusing infrastructure corridors compared to the greenfield approach, as only small savings are made when reusing corridors. Compared to the scenario with spatial uses, the costs are around 5% cheaper, while 60% of the network is created using infrastructure corridors.
- 2. How does the size and investment costs of the network vary when countries are interconnected via their offshore energy networks, compared to an isolated approach?

The network capacity-length decreases in size when isolated compared to interconnected, with a 28% decrease for the hydrogen networks, and a 37% decrease for the electricity grids. For the electricity grid, the cost is 16% cheaper for an isolated approach. For the hydrogen network, the costs do not show a significant decrease from an interconnected to isolated scenario. The reason for this is that the interconnected scenario increasingly benefits from reusing existing infrastructure at lower costs, due to the moderate degree of O&G network interconnection which already exists in the NS. So, although the capacity-lengths are higher while interconnected, the costs remain similar. Importantly, this study does not suggest that interconnection of electricity grids is not beneficial, but shows that interconnection should be planned carefully to avoid sunk costs, overcapacitated connections and asymmetrical investment costs between countries.

3. How do the spatial and economic properties change between an interconnected hydrogen network compared with an interconnected electricity grid?

Hydrogen networks on the whole lead to greater connections of capacity-lengths due to the cost-benefits of increasing capacity. Electricity grids lead to more star-like networks as they do not share such a benefit. In terms of routing, hydrogen networks prefer pathways which follow the existing O&G network as well as areas designated in marine/maritime spatial plans (MSP)s for placing pipelines. Electricity cables also follow areas defined in MSPs, as well as the possible future corridors of electricity cables. Looking at the network investment costs only, hydrogen pipeline networks are cheaper (ranging between 14 - 21 B€) than electricity grids (ranging from 87 to 116 B€). Crucially, these costs cannot be considered separately, as they are part of a larger hydrogen production system. The system LCOH does not vary significantly across all scenarios, suggesting that off- and onshore hydrogen production and transportation are competitive.

- The main reason for this flatness is that savings from hydrogen networks instead of electricity grids are counteracted with the high costs of offshore electrolyser platforms.
- The LCOH varies in all scenarios from 1.95 to 2.15 €/kg of hydrogen in 2040.
- When considering sensitivities, offshore and onshore hydrogen production still remain competitive with each other.

And finally, this can lead us to answer the main research question.

Considering spatial complexities and uncertainties, what are the most suitable energy network configurations for producing hydrogen in the North Sea region in 2040?

Large connections will be seen between the Netherlands, Germany and possibly the United Kingdom (UK), as they have the largest expected hydrogen demand. Reusing existing O&G pipelines infrastructure (corridors) such as the Dutch pipelines will lead to significant cost savings for hydrogen networks. For electricity grids, direct corridors such as the northeast to southwest defined area in Germany will be useful to decrease the capacity-lengths and thus costs of electricity cables. The most suitable network configurations will include both hydrogen pipelines and electricity networks, as they are cost competitive. Other deciding factors than the LCOH should be used when deciding which infrastructure should be installed at specific locations.

7.2 Recommendations

Taking into account the literature, the discussion and the conclusions, a number of recommendations can provided.

Short term, national level:

• In the Netherlands, Gasunie should expand their the scope of their recent backbone plans to offshore. Significant cost savings could be made by reusing the pipelines in the Dutch NS. The Netherlands could become a leader in this field, providing valuable information to feed policies and regulations in other NS-region countries.

Medium term, European level:

- Knowing electricity grids and hydrogen networks are cost competitive, promote integrated hub-and-spoke energy islands between the Netherlands and Germany due to high future hydrogen demands. This simultaneously provides benefits of both systems such as flexibility, cost savings and lower onshore network investments.
- This promotion should be done through regulatory support (which is currently lacking) and careful subsidisation of energy islands.

Long term, North Sea level:

- Investigate the interaction of spatial complexities, infrastructure planning and actual installation costs. Doing this will provide a better understanding of how routing and costs increase when considering NS spatial uses.
- Using this knowledge, define broad interconnection corridors for future infrastructures between countries. This can be done by using MSP (on an European or global) level, such as the infrastructure corridors defined in the Belgian and German MSPs.

Modelling and further research:

- Include the dynamic spatio-temporal aspects of hydrogen supply and demand in NS infrastructure modelling, which can reduce the amount of overinvestments in capacity. In tandem, use a step-wise approach to modelling, where inputs such as available O&G infrastructure, offshore wind farms and other energy sources vary year by year as they become available.
- Ensure future modelling only makes offshore connections to onshore sinks if it is a benefit by including onshore transmission connections. This will reduce the amount of sunk cost in offshore investments, leading to more realistic and cost-effective network topologies in the NS.

Using these recommendations, it will be possible to develop and plan a targeted future hydrogen production and transportation system in the North Sea in order to reach 2050 decarbonisation goals at low costs.

References

- E. Commission, "The EU Blue Economy Report," European Commission, Luxembourg, Tech. Rep., 2021.
 [Online]. Available: https://www.msp-platform.eu/sites/default/files/the-eu-blue-economy-report-2021_en.
 pdf
- [2] E. Council, "Council adopts European climate law," 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.consilium. europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2021/06/28/council-adopts-european-climate-law/
- [3] N. Government, "Act relating to Norway's climate targets (Climate Change Act)," 2021. [Online]. Available: https://lovdata.no/dokument/NL/lov/2017-06-16-60
- [4] U. Government, "Climate Change Act 2008," 2019, publisher: Statute Law Database. [Online]. Available: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/27/part/1
- [5] H. Blanco and A. Faaij, "A review at the role of storage in energy systems with a focus on Power to Gas and long-term storage," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 81, pp. 1049–1086, Jan. 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032117311310
- [6] E. Commission, "Factsheet on REPowerEU Actions," European Commission, Luxembourg, Text, 2022.
 [Online]. Available: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/fs_22_3133
- [7] OSPAR, "2015 Update of the inventory of Oil and Gas Offshore Installations in the OSPAR Maritime Area," OSPAR Commission, Tech. Rep., 2015. [Online]. Available: https://oap-cloudfront.ospar.org/media/ filer_public/91/c0/91c017bd-e619-42d6-b447-b7b2038aa92b/p00656_offshore_installations_inventory_2015.pdf
- [8] E. Commission, "The North Seas Energy Cooperation," 2021. [Online]. Available: https://ec.europa.eu/ energy/topics/infrastructure/high-level-groups/north-seas-energy-cooperation_en
- [9] —, "Directive 2014/89/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 July 2014 establishing a framework for maritime spatial planning," 2014, doc ID: 32014L0089 Doc Sector: 3 Doc Title: Directive 2014/89/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 July 2014 establishing a framework for maritime spatial planning Doc Type: L Usr_lan: en. [Online]. Available: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/eli/dir/2014/89
- [10] NorthSEE, "NorthSEE Project Interim Findings," NorthSEE, Tech. Rep., 2020. [Online]. Available: https://northsearegion.eu/media/13331/sub-north-see-project-findings-brochure-web-200420.pdf
- [11] PBL, "The future of the North Sea," PBL, Tech. Rep., 2018. [Online]. Available: https: //www.pbl.nl/sites/default/files/downloads/pbl-2018-the-future-of-the-north-sea-3193.pdf
- [12] A. M. Addamo, A. Calvo Santos, N. Carvalho, J. Guillén, D. Magagna, S. Neehus, A. Peralta Baptista, S. Quatrini, and Y. Schinasi Romeu, "The EU blue economy report 2021," Publications Office of the European Union, LU, Tech. Rep., 2021. [Online]. Available: https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2771/8217
- [13] European Commission, "An EU Strategy to harness the potential of offshore renewable energy for a climate neutral future," European Commission, Brussels, Text, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://ec.europa.eu/energy/sites/ener/files/offshore_renewable_energy_strategy.pdf
- [14] D. Jørgensen, T. Van der Straeten, R. Jetten, and R. Habeck, "THE DECLARATION OF ENERGY MINISTERS on The North Sea as a Green Power Plant of Europe," Rijksoverheid, Esbjerg, Declaration, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/publicaties/2022/05/18/ the-declaration-of-energy-ministers-on-the-north-sea-as-a-green-power-plant-of-europe
- [15] J. Gea-Bermúdez, L. Kitzing, M. Koivisto, K. Das, J. P. Murcia León, and P. Sørensen, "The Value of Sector Coupling for the Development of Offshore Power Grids," *Energies*, vol. 15, no. 3, p. 747, Jan. 2022, number: 3 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute. [Online]. Available: https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/15/3/747

- M. Van Schot and C. Jepma, "A vision on hydrogen potential from the North Sea," North Sea Energy, Tech. Rep., 2020. [Online]. Available: https://north-sea-energy.eu/static/febe7ba6215a46d7319967594bc5699d/ 1FINAL1.pdf
- [17] B. Miao, L. Giordano, and S. H. Chan, "Long-distance renewable hydrogen transmission via cables and pipelines," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 46, no. 36, pp. 18699–18718, May 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319921009137
- [18] M. A. Semeraro, "Renewable energy transport via hydrogen pipelines and HVDC transmission lines," *Energy Strategy Reviews*, vol. 35, p. 100658, May 2021. [Online]. Available: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2211467X21000444
- [19] A. Taieb and M. Shaaban, "Cost Analysis of Electricity Transmission from Offshore Wind Farm by HVDC and Hydrogen Pipeline Systems," in 2019 IEEE PES GTD Grand International Conference and Exposition Asia (GTD Asia), Mar. 2019, pp. 632–636.
- [20] B. A. Franco, P. Baptista, R. C. Neto, and S. Ganilha, "Assessment of offloading pathways for wind-powered offshore hydrogen production: Energy and economic analysis," *Applied Energy*, vol. 286, p. 116553, Mar. 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S030626192100101X
- [21] E. Van der Veer, B. Sweers, D. Kawale, M. van Unen, M. van Schot, J. Kee, F. Howell, M. Renz, E. de Vries, S. Tak, B. Knoors, S. Meijer, S. Audenaert, L. van der Keere, R. de Schutter, M. Xiao, H. ter Veld, K. Rajavelu, and E. Pernot, "North Sea Energy Offshore Energy Islands," North Sea Energy, Tech. Rep., 2020. [Online]. Available: https://north-sea-energy.eu/static/0856dd12a36d1f321aaf757706bd5913/8a.-FINAL-NSE3_D3. 8-Final-report-on-the-techno-economic-environmental-and-legal-assessment-of-offshore-energy-islands.pdf
- [22] K. Meier, "Hydrogen production with sea water electrolysis using Norwegian offshore wind energy potentials," *International Journal of Energy and Environmental Engineering*, vol. 5, no. 2, p. 104, May 2014. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40095-014-0104-6
- [23] P. Hou, P. Enevoldsen, J. Eichman, W. Hu, M. Z. Jacobson, and Z. Chen, "Optimizing investments in coupled offshore wind -electrolytic hydrogen storage systems in Denmark," *Journal of Power Sources*, vol. 359, pp. 186– 197, Aug. 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378775317306882
- [24] Y. Yan, H. Zhang, Q. Liao, Y. Liang, and J. Yan, "Roadmap to hybrid offshore system with hydrogen and power co-generation," *Energy Conversion and Management*, vol. 247, p. 114690, Nov. 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0196890421008669
- [25] A. Singlitico, J. Østergaard, and S. Chatzivasileiadis, "Onshore, offshore or in-turbine electrolysis? Techno-economic overview of alternative integration designs for green hydrogen production into Offshore Wind Power Hubs," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Transition*, vol. 1, p. 100005, Aug. 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2667095X21000052
- [26] A. Crivellari and V. Cozzani, "Offshore renewable energy exploitation strategies in remote areas by power-togas and power-to-liquid conversion," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 2936–2953, Jan. 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319919344386
- [27] J. Kee, M. Renz, M. van Schot, F. Howell, C. Jepma, and H. van Maanen, "Energy transport and energy carriers," North Sea Energy, Tech. Rep., 2020. [Online]. Available: https://north-sea-energy.eu/static/13128f408ffceaf0d8281be5275b63c3/6.-FINAL-NSE3-D3.2-D3. 3-D3.4-D3.5-D3.6-Inventory-of-power-to-X-integration-options.pdf
- [28] C. Thommessen, M. Otto, F. Nigbur, J. Roes, and A. Heinzel, "Techno-economic system analysis of an offshore energy hub with an outlook on electrofuel applications," *Smart Energy*, vol. 3, p. 100027, Aug. 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2666955221000277

- [29] J. Van Stralen, S. Jeffrey, and J. Gerdes, "The role of hydrogen as part of a portfolio of climate change mitigation solutions for the Netherlands towards 2050," North Sea Energy, Tech. Rep., 2020. [Online]. Available: https://north-sea-energy.eu/static/99d902fd4445c6c7c608f22d80b0a42f/12.-FINAL-NSE3-D1.1-D1.
 2-Report-analyzing-the-value-of-this-technology-option-in-relation-to-alternatives-and-factsheet.pdf
- [30] J. Gea Bermúdez, R. B. B. Pedersen, M. J. Koivisto, L. Kitzing, and A. Ramos, "Going offshore or not: Where to generate hydrogen in future integrated energy systems?" Jun. 2021, publisher: TechRxiv. [Online]. Available: https://www.techrxiv.org/articles/preprint/Going_offshore_or_not_Where_to_ generate_hydrogen_in_future_integrated_energy_systems_/14806647/2
- [31] J. Andersson and S. Grönkvist, "Large-scale storage of hydrogen," International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, vol. 44, no. 23, pp. 11901–11919, May 2019. [Online]. Available: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319919310195
- [32] D. G. Caglayan, N. Weber, H. U. Heinrichs, J. Linßen, M. Robinius, P. A. Kukla, and D. Stolten, "Technical potential of salt caverns for hydrogen storage in Europe," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 45, no. 11, pp. 6793–6805, Feb. 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319919347299
- [33] J. Cihlar, D. Mavins, and K. Van der Leun, "Picturing the value of gas storage to the European hydrogen system," Gas Infrastructure Europe, Tech. Rep., 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.gie.eu/wp-content/uploads/filr/3517/Picturing%20the%20value%20of%20gas% 20storage%20to%20the%20European%20hydrogen%20system_FINAL_140621.pdf
- [34] International Energy Agency, Global Hydrogen Review 2021. OECD, Oct. 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/energy/global-hydrogen-review-2021_39351842-en
- [35] F. Ueckerdt, C. Bauer, A. Dirnaichner, J. Everall, R. Sacchi, and G. Luderer, "Potential and risks of hydrogen-based e-fuels in climate change mitigation," *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 384–393, May 2021, number: 5 Primary_atype: Reviews Publisher: Nature Publishing Group Subject_term: Carbon and energy;Climate-change mitigation;Energy policy;Energy supply and demand;Environmental economics Subject_term_id: carbon-and-energy;climate-change-mitigation;energy-policy;energy-supply-anddemand;environmental-economics. [Online]. Available: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41558-021-01032-7
- [36] G. W. Crabtree, M. S. Dresselhaus, and M. V. Buchanan, "The Hydrogen Economy," *Physics Today*, vol. 57, no. 12, pp. 39–44, 2004.
- [37] D. P. Gregory, D. Y. C. Ng, and G. M. Long, "The Hydrogen Economy," in *Electrochemistry of Cleaner Environments*, J. O. Bockris, Ed. Boston, MA: Springer US, 1972, pp. 226–280. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4684-1950-4_8
- [38] Hydrogen Council, "Hydrogen Insights," McKinsey, Tech. Rep., 2021. [Online]. Available: https: //hydrogencouncil.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Hydrogen-Insights-July-2021-Executive-summary.pdf
- [39] E. Commission, "A hydrogen strategy for a climate-neutral Europe," European Commission, Brussels, Tech. Rep., 2020, doc ID: 52020DC0301 Doc Sector: 5 Doc Title: COMMUNICATION FROM THE COMMISSION TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT, THE COUNCIL, THE EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COMMITTEE AND THE COMMITTEE OF THE REGIONS A hydrogen strategy for a climate-neutral Europe Doc Type: DC Usr_lan: en. [Online]. Available: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52020DC0301
- [40] J. Jens, A. Wang, K. van der Leun, D. Peters, and M. Buseman, "Extending the European Hydrogen Backbone," Gas for Climate, Tech. Rep., 2021. [Online]. Available: https://gasforclimate2050.eu/wp-content/ uploads/2021/06/European-Hydrogen-Backbone_April-2021_V3.pdf

- [41] A. Wang, K. van der Leun, D. Peters, and M. Buseman, "European Hydrogen Backbone," Gas for Climate, Technical report, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://gasforclimate2050.eu/sdm_downloads/ european-hydrogen-backbone/
- [42] F. Barbir, "Transition to renewable energy systems with hydrogen as an energy carrier," *Energy*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 308–312, Mar. 2009. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360544208001771
- [43] A. Kovač, M. Paranos, and D. Marciuš, "Hydrogen in energy transition: A review," International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, vol. 46, no. 16, pp. 10016–10035, Mar. 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319920345079
- [44] A. Sgobbi, W. Nijs, R. De Miglio, A. Chiodi, M. Gargiulo, and C. Thiel, "How far away is hydrogen? Its role in the medium and long-term decarbonisation of the European energy system," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 19–35, Jan. 2016. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319915301889
- [45] D. Sperling and J. S. Cannon, "Chapter 17 Hydrogen Hope or Hype," in *The Hydrogen Energy Transition*,
 D. Sperling and J. S. Cannon, Eds. Burlington: Academic Press, Jan. 2004, pp. 235–239. [Online].
 Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780126568813500174
- [46] Poshydon, "Poshydon Process," 2021. [Online]. Available: https://poshydon.com/en/home-en/process/
- [47] RWE and N. Energy, "RWE and Neptune Energy join forces to accelerate green hydrogen production in Dutch North Sea," 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.rwe.com/en/press/rwe-renewables/ 2022-02-15-rwe-and-neptune-energy-join-forces-to-accelerate-green-hydrogen-production-in-dutch-north-sea
- [48] AquaVentus, "AquaVentus," 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.aquaventus.org/#section-2
- [49] Vattenfall, "World's first hydrogen-producing offshore wind turbine gets £9.3million funding boost," 2022.
 [Online]. Available: https://group.vattenfall.com/uk/newsroom/pressreleases/2022/aberdeen-hydrogen
- [50] D. Haeseldonckx and W. D'haeseleer, "The use of the natural-gas pipeline infrastructure for hydrogen transport in a changing market structure," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 32, no. 10, pp. 1381– 1386, Jul. 2007. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319906004940
- [51] A. J. Abbas, H. Hassani, M. Burby, and I. J. John, "An Investigation into the Volumetric Flow Rate Requirement of Hydrogen Transportation in Existing Natural Gas Pipelines and Its Safety Implications," *Gases*, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 156–179, Dec. 2021, number: 4 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute. [Online]. Available: https://www.mdpi.com/2673-5628/1/4/13
- [52] F. M. Quintino, N. Nascimento, and E. C. Fernandes, "Aspects of Hydrogen and Biomethane Introduction in Natural Gas Infrastructure and Equipment," *Hydrogen*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 301–318, Sep. 2021, number: 3 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute. [Online]. Available: https://www.mdpi.com/2673-4141/2/3/16
- [53] Z. Zhang, I. Saedi, S. Mhanna, K. Wu, and P. Mancarella, "Modelling of gas network transient flows with multiple hydrogen injections and gas composition tracking," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 2220–2233, Jan. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319921042221
- [54] N. Gonzalez Diez, S. van der Meer, J. Bonetto, and A. Herwijn, "Technical assessment of Hydrogen transport, compression, processing offshore," North Sea Energy, Tech. Rep., 2020.
- [55] G. Caucois, C. Renaud-bezot, M. Simon, V. Gentile, M. Carpenter, and L. E. Torbergsen, "Re-Stream – Study on the reuse of oil and gas infrastructure for hydrogen and CCS in Europe," DNV, Carbon Limits, Tech. Rep., 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.oilandgaseurope.org/library/ re-stream-study-on-the-reuse-of-oil-and-gas-infrastructure-for-hydrogen-and-ccs-in-europe/

- [56] S. Cerniauskas, A. Jose Chavez Junco, T. Grube, M. Robinius, and D. Stolten, "Options of natural gas pipeline reassignment for hydrogen: Cost assessment for a Germany case study," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 45, no. 21, pp. 12095–12107, Apr. 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319920307023
- [57] C. J. Quarton and S. Samsatli, "Power-to-gas for injection into the gas grid: What can we learn from real-life projects, economic assessments and systems modelling?" *Renewable* and Sustainable Energy Reviews, vol. 98, pp. 302–316, Dec. 2018. [Online]. Available: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032118306531
- [58] R. Peters, J. Vaessen, and R. v. d. Meer, "Offshore Hydrogen Production in the North Sea Enables Far Offshore Wind Development." OnePetro, May 2020. [Online]. Available: https: //onepetro.org/OTCONF/proceedings/200TC/4-200TC/D041S052R002/107791
- [59] R. Van Rossum, J. Jens, G. La Guardia, A. Wang, L. Kuhnen, and M. Overgraag, "European Hydrogen Backbone," Guidehouse, Tech. Rep., 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.ehb.eu/files/downloads/ EHB-A-European-hydrogen-infrastructure-vision-covering-28-countries.pdf
- [60] N. Grid, "Making plans for a hydrogen 'backbone' across Britain | National Grid Group," 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.nationalgrid.com/stories/journey-to-net-zero-stories/ making-plans-hydrogen-backbone-across-britain
- [61] N. S. T. Authority, "New tool to maximise infrastructure repurposing," 2022. [Online]. Available: https: //www.nstauthority.co.uk/news-publications/news/2022/new-tool-to-maximise-infrastructure-repurposing/
- [62] H. 27, "HyWay 27: hydrogen transmission using the existing natural gas grid?" PWC, Amsterdam, Tech. Rep., 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.hyway27.nl/en/latest-news/ hyway-27-realisation-of-a-national-hydrogen-network
- [63] EON, "Unique project in Germany: Natural gas pipeline is converted to pure hydrogen," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.eon.com/en/about-us/media/press-release/2020/ unique-project-in-germany-natural-gas-pipeline-is-converted-to-pure-hydrogen.html
- [64] Linde, "Linde Engineering Starts Up World's First Plant for Extracting Hydrogen from Natural Gas Pipelines Using Membrane Technology," Jan. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.linde-engineering.com/ en/news_and_media/press_releases/news20220120.html
- [65] A.-J. Leerling, "The North Sea becoming an Energy Hub," Master's thesis, TU Delft, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://repository.tudelft.nl/islandora/object/uuid%3Ab1057961-87f5-4a21-91f2-bb03a72d6742
- [66] R. Huisman, "Towards a robust European hydrogen network," Master's thesis, TU Delft, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://repository.tudelft.nl/islandora/object/uuid%3A4f15082f-41fe-44fd-8263-1c8e3a53ab18
- [67] Guidehouse, "Five hydrogen supply corridors for Europe in 2030," 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.ehb.eu/files/downloads/EHB-Supply-corridor-presentation-Full-version.pdf
- [68] S. Alavirad, S. Mohammadi, M. Golombok, and K. Haans, "Interconnection and generation from a North Sea power hub – A linear electricity model," *International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems*, vol. 133, p. 107132, Dec. 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0142061521003719
- [69] S. Cole, P. Martinot, S. Rapoport, and G. Papaefthymiou, "Cost-benefit analysis of a coordinated grid development in the North Sea," in 2015 IEEE Eindhoven PowerTech, Jun. 2015, pp. 1–5.
- [70] B. Flynn, "Marine wind energy and the North Sea Offshore Grid Initiative: A Multi-Level Perspective on a stalled technology transition?" Energy Research & Social Science, vol. 22, pp. 36–51, Dec. 2016. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S221462961630192X

- [71] J. Gea-Bermúdez, L.-L. Pade, A. Papakonstantinou, and M. J. Koivisto, "North Sea Offshore Grid Effects of Integration Towards 2050," in 2018 15th International Conference on the European Energy Market (EEM), Jun. 2018, pp. 1–5, iSSN: 2165-4093.
- [72] J. Gorenstein Dedecca, S. Lumbreras, A. Ramos, R. A. Hakvoort, and P. M. Herder, "Expansion planning of the North Sea offshore grid: Simulation of integrated governance constraints," *Energy Economics*, vol. 72, pp. 376–392, May 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0140988318301622
- [73] J. Gorenstein Dedecca and R. A. Hakvoort, "A review of the North Seas offshore grid modeling: Current and future research," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 60, pp. 129–143, Jul. 2016. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032116001428
- [74] M. Koivisto, J. Gea-Bermúdez, and P. Sørensen, "North Sea offshore grid development: combined optimisation of grid and generation investments towards 2050," *IET Renewable Power Generation*, vol. 14, no. 8, pp. 1259–1267, 2020, _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1049/iet-rpg.2019.0693.
 [Online]. Available: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1049/iet-rpg.2019.0693
- [75] M. Koivisto, J. Gea-Bermúdez, P. Kanellas, K. Das, and P. Sørensen, "North Sea region energy system towards 2050: integrated offshore grid and sector coupling drive offshore wind power installations," Wind Energy Science, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 1705–1712, Dec. 2020, publisher: Copernicus GmbH. [Online]. Available: https://wes.copernicus.org/articles/5/1705/2020/
- [76] M. Kristiansen, M. Korpås, and H. Farahmand, "Towards a fully integrated North Sea offshore grid: An engineering-economic assessment of a power link island," WIREs Energy and Environment, vol. 7, no. 4, p. e296, 2018, _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/wene.296. [Online]. Available: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/wene.296
- [77] O. C. Spro, R. E. Torres-Olguin, and M. Korpås, "North Sea offshore network and energy storage for large scale integration of renewables," *Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments*, vol. 11, pp. 142–147, Sep. 2015. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2213138814000976
- [78] M. Jansen, C. Duffy, T. C. Green, and I. Staffell, "Island in the Sea: The prospects and impacts of an offshore wind power hub in the North Sea," *Advances in Applied Energy*, vol. 6, p. 100090, Jun. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2666792422000087
- [79] NorthSEE, "Interim Status quo report on offshore linear energy infrastructure in the North Sea Region," Interreg, Tech. Rep., 2019. [Online]. Available: https://northsearegion.eu/media/9245/ linear-infrastructure-report-final-230519.pdf
- [80] D. Casimiro and J. Guerreiro, "Trends in Maritime Spatial Planning in Europe: An Approach to Governance Models," *Journal of Environmental Protection*, vol. 10, no. 12, pp. 1677–1698, Nov. 2019, number: 12 Publisher: Scientific Research Publishing. [Online]. Available: http: //www.scirp.org/Journal/Paperabs.aspx?paperid=97356
- [81] N. S. W. P. Hub, "Towards the first hub-and-spoke project." North Sea Wind Power Hub, Tech. Rep., 2021. [Online]. Available: https://northseawindpowerhub.eu/sites/northseawindpowerhub.eu/files/media/ document/NSWPH_Concept%20Paper_05_2021_v2.pdf
- [82] ENTSOG, "ENTSOG Transparency Platform," 2021. [Online]. Available: https://transparency.entsog.eu/ #/map
- [83] N. S. Energy, "Unlocking potential of the North Sea," North Sea Energy, Tech. Rep., 2020. [Online]. Available: https://north-sea-energy.eu/static/3e19bcb9aa57735fe1bbc423ca22d5e7/ FINAL-North-Sea-Energy-Unlocking-potential-of-the-North-Sea-program-findings-2020.pdf

- [84] TNO and N. Z. T. Centre, "Cross-border collaboration in the North Sea energy transition," One North Sea, Tech. Rep., 2021. [Online]. Available: https://onenorthsea.com/
- [85] P. Agnolucci and W. McDowall, "Designing future hydrogen infrastructure: Insights from analysis at different spatial scales," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 38, no. 13, pp. 5181–5191, May 2013. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319913004084
- [86] L. Li, H. Manier, and M.-A. Manier, "Hydrogen supply chain network design: An optimization-oriented review," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 103, pp. 342–360, Apr. 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032118308633
- [87] H. Liu and J. Ma, "A review of models and methods for hydrogen supply chain system planning," CSEE Journal of Power and Energy Systems, pp. 1–12, 2020, conference Name: CSEE Journal of Power and Energy Systems.
- [88] S. Maryam, "Review of modelling approaches used in the HSC context for the UK," International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, vol. 42, no. 39, pp. 24927–24938, Sep. 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319917332871
- [89] J. André, S. Auray, J. Brac, D. De Wolf, G. Maisonnier, M.-M. Ould-Sidi, and A. Simonnet, "Design and dimensioning of hydrogen transmission pipeline networks," *European Journal of Operational Research*, vol. 229, no. 1, pp. 239–251, Aug. 2013. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0377221713001690
- [90] J. André, S. Auray, D. De Wolf, M.-M. Memmah, and A. Simonnet, "Time development of new hydrogen transmission pipeline networks for France," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 39, no. 20, pp. 10323–10337, Jul. 2014. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0360319914012804
- [91] N. Balta-Ozkan and E. Baldwin, "Spatial development of hydrogen economy in a low-carbon UK energy system," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 1209–1224, Feb. 2013. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319912024950
- [92] S. Baufumé, F. Grüger, T. Grube, D. Krieg, J. Linssen, M. Weber, J.-F. Hake, and D. Stolten, "GIS-based scenario calculations for a nationwide German hydrogen pipeline infrastructure," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 38, no. 10, pp. 3813–3829, Apr. 2013. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319913000670
- [93] N. Johnson and J. Ogden, "A spatially-explicit optimization model for long-term hydrogen pipeline planning," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 37, no. 6, pp. 5421–5433, Mar. 2012. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319911020349
- [94] C. H. Lee, D. Y. L. Chong, S. Hemmati, M. M. Elnegihi, D. C. Y. Foo, B. S. How, and C. Yoo, "A P-graph approach for the synthesis of national-wide bio-hydrogen network from palm oil mill effluent," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 45, no. 35, pp. 17200–17219, Jul. 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319920315834
- [95] M. Moreno-Benito, P. Agnolucci, and L. G. Papageorgiou, "Towards a sustainable hydrogen economy: Optimisation-based framework for hydrogen infrastructure development," *Computers & Chemical Engineering*, vol. 102, pp. 110–127, Jul. 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0098135416302666
- [96] N. V. S. N. Murthy Konda, N. Shah, and N. P. Brandon, "Optimal transition towards a large-scale hydrogen infrastructure for the transport sector: The case for the Netherlands," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 36, no. 8, pp. 4619–4635, Apr. 2011. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319911001492

- [97] R. Nugroho, P. K. Rose, T. Gnann, and M. Wei, "Cost of a potential hydrogen-refueling network for heavy-duty vehicles with long-haul application in Germany 2050," *International Journal* of Hydrogen Energy, vol. 46, no. 71, pp. 35459–35478, Oct. 2021. [Online]. Available: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319921032833
- [98] M. Reuß, T. Grube, M. Robinius, and D. Stolten, "A hydrogen supply chain with spatial resolution: Comparative analysis of infrastructure technologies in Germany," *Applied Energy*, vol. 247, pp. 438–453, Aug. 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306261919307111
- [99] M. Robinius, L. Schewe, M. Schmidt, D. Stolten, J. Thürauf, and L. Welder, "Robust optimal discrete arc sizing for tree-shaped potential networks," *Computational Optimization and Applications*, vol. 73, no. 3, pp. 791–819, Jul. 2019. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10589-019-00085-x
- [100] S. Samsatli and N. J. Samsatli, "A multi-objective MILP model for the design and operation of future integrated multi-vector energy networks capturing detailed spatio-temporal dependencies," *Applied Energy*, vol. 220, pp. 893–920, Jun. 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0306261917313375
- [101] S. Samsatli, I. Staffell, and N. J. Samsatli, "Optimal design and operation of integrated windhydrogen-electricity networks for decarbonising the domestic transport sector in Great Britain," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 447–475, Jan. 2016. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319915300574
- [102] S.-K. Seo, D.-Y. Yun, and C.-J. Lee, "Design and optimization of a hydrogen supply chain using a centralized storage model," *Applied Energy*, vol. 262, p. 114452, Mar. 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306261919321403
- [103] O. Tlili, C. Mansilla, J. Linßen, M. Reuß, T. Grube, M. Robinius, J. André, Y. Perez, A. Le Duigou, and D. Stolten, "Geospatial modelling of the hydrogen infrastructure in France in order to identify the most suited supply chains," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 3053–3072, Jan. 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319919341503
- [104] L. Welder, D. S. Ryberg, L. Kotzur, T. Grube, M. Robinius, and D. Stolten, "Spatio-temporal optimization of a future energy system for power-to-hydrogen applications in Germany," *Energy*, vol. 158, pp. 1130–1149, Sep. 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S036054421830879X
- [105] D. Wickham, A. Hawkes, and F. Jalil-Vega, "Hydrogen supply chain optimisation for the transport sector Focus on hydrogen purity and purification requirements," *Applied Energy*, vol. 305, p. 117740, Jan. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306261921010862
- B. Hoover, S. Yaw, and R. Middleton, "CostMAP: an open-source software package for developing cost surfaces using a multi-scale search kernel," *International Journal of Geographical Information Science*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 520–538, Mar. 2020, publisher: Taylor & Francis _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/13658816.2019.1675885.
 [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1080/13658816.2019.1675885
- [107] D. M. Atkinson, P. Deadman, D. Dudycha, and S. Traynor, "Multi-criteria evaluation and least cost path analysis for an arctic all-weather road," *Applied Geography*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 287–307, Oct. 2005. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0143622805000378
- [108] J. Kwakernaak, "PIPELINE NETWORK OPTIMIZATION USING STEINER NODES A minimal Steiner tree Methodology," Master's thesis, Wageningen University & Research, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://edepot.wur.nl/532626
- [109] M. C. L. Howey, "Multiple pathways across past landscapes: circuit theory as a complementary geospatial method to least cost path for modeling past movement," *Journal of Archaeological Science*, vol. 38,

no. 10, pp. 2523–2535, Oct. 2011. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0305440311001099

- [110] A. Steingrube, K. Bao, S. Wieland, A. Lalama, P. M. Kabiro, V. Coors, and B. Schröter, "A Method for Optimizing and Spatially Distributing Heating Systems by Coupling an Urban Energy Simulation Platform and an Energy System Model," *Resources*, vol. 10, no. 5, p. 52, May 2021, number: 5 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute. [Online]. Available: https://www.mdpi.com/2079-9276/10/5/52
- [111] K. Balaji and M. Rabiei, "Carbon dioxide pipeline route optimization for carbon capture, utilization, and storage: A case study for North-Central USA," Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments, vol. 51, p. 101900, Jun. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S2213138821009140
- [112] M. J. Kuby, J. M. Bielicki, and R. S. Middleton, "Optimal Spatial Deployment of CO2 Capture and Storage Given a Price on Carbon," *International Regional Science Review*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 285–305, Jul. 2011, publisher: SAGE Publications Inc. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1177/0160017610397191
- [113] R. S. Middleton and J. M. Bielicki, "A scalable infrastructure model for carbon capture and storage: SimCCS," *Energy Policy*, vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 1052–1060, Mar. 2009. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421508005132
- [114] R. S. Middleton, S. P. Yaw, B. A. Hoover, and K. M. Ellett, "SimCCS: An open-source tool for optimizing CO2 capture, transport, and storage infrastructure," *Environmental Modelling & Software*, vol. 124, p. 104560, Feb. 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364815218300185
- [115] R. S. Middleton, M. J. Kuby, R. Wei, G. N. Keating, and R. J. Pawar, "A dynamic model for optimally phasing in CO2 capture and storage infrastructure," *Environmental Modelling & Software*, vol. 37, pp. 193–205, Nov. 2012. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364815212001296
- [116] J. Morbee, J. Serpa, and E. Tzimas, "Optimal planning of CO2 transmission infrastructure: The JRC InfraCCS tool," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 4, pp. 2772–2777, Jan. 2011. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1876610211003778
- [117] —, "Optimised deployment of a European CO2 transport network," International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control, vol. 7, pp. 48–61, Mar. 2012. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S1750583611002210
- [118] L. Sun and W. Chen, "Development and application of a multi-stage CCUS source-sink matching model," *Applied Energy*, vol. 185, pp. 1424–1432, Jan. 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0306261916000209
- [119] M. Van den Broek, E. Brederode, A. Ramírez, L. Kramers, M. van der Kuip, T. Wildenborg, W. Turkenburg, and A. Faaij, "Designing a cost-effective CO2 storage infrastructure using a GIS based linear optimization energy model," *Environmental Modelling & Software*, vol. 25, no. 12, pp. 1754–1768, Dec. 2010. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364815210002045
- [120] A. W. Milt, T. D. Gagnolet, and P. R. Armsworth, "The costs of avoiding environmental impacts from shale-gas surface infrastructure," *Conservation Biology*, vol. 30, no. 6, pp. 1151– 1158, 2016, _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/cobi.12766. [Online]. Available: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/cobi.12766
- [121] A. Durmaz, E. Ünal, and C. C. Aydın, "Automatic Pipeline Route Design with Multi-Criteria Evaluation Based on Least-Cost Path Analysis and Line-Based Cartographic Simplification: A Case Study of the Mus Project in Turkey," *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information*, vol. 8, no. 4, p.

173, Apr. 2019, number: 4 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute. [Online]. Available: https://www.mdpi.com/2220-9964/8/4/173

- [122] S. Bagli, D. Geneletti, and F. Orsi, "Routeing of power lines through least-cost path analysis and multicriteria evaluation to minimise environmental impacts," *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 234–239, Apr. 2011. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0195925510001393
- [123] S. Corigliano, T. Carnovali, D. Edeme, and M. Merlo, "Holistic geospatial data-based procedure for electric network design and least-cost energy strategy," *Energy for Sustainable Development*, vol. 58, pp. 1–15, Oct. 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0973082620302611
- [124] G. T. F. Vinicius, C. Silvia, D. Aleksandar, B. Massimo, and M. Marco, "Rural electrification planning based on graph theory and geospatial data: A realistic topology oriented approach," *Sustainable Energy, Grids and Networks*, vol. 28, p. 100525, Dec. 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2352467721000965
- [125] P. Blechinger, C. Cader, and P. Bertheau, "Least-Cost Electrification Modeling and Planning—A Case Study for Five Nigerian Federal States," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 107, no. 9, pp. 1923–1940, Sep. 2019, conference Name: Proceedings of the IEEE.
- [126] D. Coleman, M. Kopp, T. Wagner, and B. Scheppat, "The value chain of green hydrogen for fuel cell buses – A case study for the Rhine-Main area in Germany," *International Journal* of Hydrogen Energy, vol. 45, no. 8, pp. 5122–5133, Feb. 2020. [Online]. Available: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319919324632
- [127] D. Boerhout, "Network optimization in developing an offshore hydrogen pipeline infrastructure in the Dutch EEZ," Master's thesis, Utrecht University, 2021.
- [128] C. Thoonsen, "Developing a methodology to draw and compare hydrogen pipelines in the Dutch EEZ in 2050," Master's thesis, Utrecht University, 2020. [Online]. Available: http://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/402495
- [129] P. W. Heijnen, E. J. Chappin, and P. M. Herder, "A method for designing minimum-cost multisource multisink network layouts," *Systems Engineering*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 14–35, 2020, _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/sys.21492. [Online]. Available: https://onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/abs/10.1002/sys.21492
- [130] E. W. Dijkstra, "A note on two problems in connexion with graphs," Numerische mathematik, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 269–271, 1959. [Online]. Available: http://www.cs.yale.edu/homes/lans/readings/routing/ dijkstra-routing-1959.pdf
- [131] C. Yeates, C. Schmidt-Hattenberger, W. Weinzierl, and D. Bruhn, "Heuristic Methods for Minimum-Cost Pipeline Network Design – a Node Valency Transfer Metaheuristic," *Networks and Spatial Economics*, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 839–871, Dec. 2021. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11067-021-09550-9
- [132] V. Vani and G. R. Prasad, "An Augmented Line Segment-Based Algorithm with Delayed Overlap Consideration and Reconfigurable Logic for RSMT Problem," in *Lecture Notes on Data Engineering* and Communications Technologies, vol. 15. Springer, 2018, pp. 565–574. [Online]. Available: https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-981-10-8681-6_51
- [133] QGIS, "Welcome to the QGIS project!" 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.qgis.org/en/site/
- [134] P. QGIS, "Least-Cost-Paths Network," 2019. [Online]. Available: https://plugins.qgis.org/plugins/ LCPNetwork/
- [135] D. Geutjes, "Repurposing Natural Gas Infrastructure for Hydrogen Transmission: Development of a network optimisation model for finding minimum cost networks that utilise existing infrastructure,"

Master's thesis, TU Delft, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://repository.tudelft.nl/islandora/object/uuid% 3Aba310d52-b968-463f-8269-d71d600ff662

- [136] L. Brunner, N. Gonzalez Diez, H. Dijkstra, R. Groenenberg, D. Kawale, J. Koornneef, Y. G. Melese, R. Peters, L. Rycroft, E. Van der Veer, D. G. Caglayan, S. Cerniauskas, B. Gillessen, J. Linßen, E. U. Pena Sanchez, and D. Stolten, "Hy3 Large-scale Hydrogen Production from Offshore Wind to Decarbonise the Dutch and German Industry," Deutsche Energie-Agentur, Utrecht, Tech. Rep., 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.tno.nl/en/about-tno/news/2022/3/towards-dutch-german-hydrogen-value-chains-synergies-for-decarbonised-industry-and-mobility/
- [137] ENTSO-E, "ENTSO-E Technopedia," 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.entsoe.eu/Technopedia/
- [138] T. Van der Straeten, "Public consultation on the offshore wind tender for the Princess Elisabeth Zone," FPS Economie, Tech. Rep., 2022. [Online]. Available: https://economie.fgov.be/sites/default/files/Files/Energy/ public-consultation-on-the-offshore-wind-tender-for-the-princess-elisabethzone.pdf
- [139] F. Economy, "Belgian offshore wind energy -5.4-5.8 GW by 2030 | FPS Economy," 2021. [Online]. Available: https://economie.fgov.be/en/themes/energy/belgian-offshore-wind-energy
- [140] F. Bekkers, J. Teer, D. Kool, L. Van Geuns, P. Bolder, I. Patrahau, and M. Sarel, "The High Value of The North Sea," HCSS, Tech. Rep., 2021. [Online]. Available: https://hcss.nl/report/high-value-of-the-north-sea/
- [141] TenneT, "Roadmap between now and the end of 2030," 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.tennet.eu/our-grid/offshore-grid-netherlands/programme-2030/
- [142] Netzentwicklungsplan, "Netzentwicklungsplan 2037/2045," Netzentwicklungsplan, Tech. Rep.,
 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.netzentwicklungsplan.de/de/netzentwicklungsplane/
 netzentwicklungsplan-20372045-2023
- [143] Energistyrelsen, "Fakta om vindenergi," 2021. [Online]. Available: https://ens.dk/ansvarsomraader/ vindenergi/fakta-om-vindenergi
- [144] N. Government, "Major initiative to promote offshore wind power," Feb. 2022, publisher: regjeringen.no. [Online]. Available: https://www.regjeringen.no/en/aktuelt/major-initiative-to-promote-offshore-wind-power/ id2900436/
- [145] —, "Ambitious offshore wind initiative," May 2022, publisher: regjeringen.no. [Online]. Available: https://www.regjeringen.no/en/aktuelt/ambitious-offshore-wind-power-initiative/id2912297/
- [146] N. Grid, "Offshore Coordination Project | National Grid ESO," 2022. [Online]. Available: https: //www.nationalgrideso.com/future-energy/projects/offshore-coordination-project
- "Offshore Transmission Network Review: [147] U. Government, proposals for an enduring regime multi-purpose interconnectors," Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Stratand 2022.egy. Tech. Rep., [Online]. Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/ off shore-transmission-network-review-proposals-for-an-enduring-regime
- [148] T. C. Estate, "The Crown Estate Open Data," 2021. [Online]. Available: https://thecrownestate.maps. arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=b7f375021ea845fcabd46f83f1d48f0b
- [149] AquaVentus, "Pro Jahr ca. 1 Mio. t Grüner Wasserstoff aus Offshore-Wind," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.aquaventus.org/downloads/AQV_210511_Infografik_de.pdf
- [150] EIA, "Assessing HVDC Transmission for Impacts of Non-Dispatchable Generation," US Energy Information Administration, Washington DC, Tech. Rep., 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.eia.gov/analysis/ studies/electricity/hvdctransmission/pdf/transmission.pdf
- [151] D. E. Agency, "Technology Data," 2022. [Online]. Available: https://ens.dk/en/our-services/ projections-and-models/technology-data

- [152] C. Offshore, "Global Offshore Wind Farms Database | 4C Offshore," 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.4coffshore.com/windfarms/
- [153] T. Groß, P. Dunkel, H. Heinrichs, J. Linßen, and D. Stolten, "Report on H2 supply from Renewable Energy Sources, H2 demand centers and H2 transport infrastructure," Forschungszentrum Jülich, Tech. Rep. HyUSPre-D1.2, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.hyuspre.eu/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/ HyUSPRe_D1.2.H2-supply-from-Renewable-Energy-Sources_2022.03.30.pdf
- [154] P. Härtel, T. K. Vrana, T. Hennig, M. von Bonin, E. J. Wiggelinkhuizen, and F. D. J. Nieuwenhout, "Review of investment model cost parameters for VSC HVDC transmission infrastructure," *Electric Power Systems Research*, vol. 151, pp. 419–431, Oct. 2017. [Online]. Available: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378779617302572
- [155] T. A. Gunawan, A. Singlitico, P. Blount, and R. F. D. Monaghan, "Towards techno-economic evaluation of renewable hydrogen production from wind curtailment and injection into the Irish gas network," in ECOS 2019, Wroclaw, 2019, p. 17. [Online]. Available: https://www.nweurope.eu/media/6438/ecos-2019.pdf
- [156] S. H. Siyal, D. Mentis, and M. Howells, "Economic analysis of standalone wind-powered hydrogen refueling stations for road transport at selected sites in Sweden," *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 40, no. 32, pp. 9855–9865, Aug. 2015. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0360319915011659
- [157] U. Government, "Hydrogen production costs 2021," Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy, Tech. Rep., 2021. [Online]. Available: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/ uploads/attachment_data/file/1011506/Hydrogen_Production_Costs_2021.pdf
- [158] IRENA, "Green hydrogen cost reduction: Scaling up electrolysers to meet the 1.5C climate goal," IRENA, Tech. Rep., 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.irena.org/publications/2020/Dec/ Green-hydrogen-cost-reduction
- [159] Y. Haseli, "Maximum conversion efficiency of hydrogen fuel cells," International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, vol. 43, no. 18, pp. 9015–9021, May 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0360319918308371
- [160] N. S. W. P. Hub, "Grid-integrated offshore Power-to-Gas," North Sea Wind Power Hub, Tech. Rep., 2022. [Online]. Available: https://northseawindpowerhub.eu/sites/northseawindpowerhub.eu/files/media/ document/NSWPH_Grid-integrated%20offshore%20Power-to-Gas_Discussion%20paper%20%231.pdf
- [161] A. Wang, J. Jens, D. Mavins, M. Moultak, M. Schimmel, K. Van der Leun, D. Peters, and M. Buseman, "Analysing future demand, supply, and transport of hydrogen," Gas for Climate, Tech. Rep., 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.ehb.eu/files/downloads/ EHB-Analysing-the-future-demand-supply-and-transport-of-hydrogen-June-2021-v3.pdf
- [162] E. Commission, "EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030 Bringing nature back into our lives," European Commission, Brussels, Tech. Rep. Document 52020DC0380, 2020, doc ID: 52020DC0380 Doc Sector: 5 Doc Title: COMMUNICATION FROM THE COMMISSION TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT, THE COUNCIL, THE EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COMMITTEE AND THE COMMITTEE OF THE REGIONS EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030 Bringing nature back into our lives Doc Type: DC Usr_lan: en. [Online]. Available: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52020DC0380
- [163] E. M. Platform, "MSP Stakeholder Conference Planning for the future of Europe's Marine Space," Brest, Jun. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://maritime-spatial-planning.ec.europa.eu/sites/default/files/ draft_final_agenda_with_speakers_msp_conference_14-15_june_2022_brest_002_4.pdf
- [164] AECOM, "East Coast Grid Spatial Study," The Crown Estate, Tech. Rep., 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.thecrownestate.co.uk/media/3801/east-coast-grid-spatial-study-summary-report.pdf

- [165] T. Brown, D. Schlachtberger, A. Kies, S. Schramm, and M. Greiner, "Synergies of sector coupling and transmission reinforcement in a cost-optimised, highly renewable European energy system," *Energy*, vol. 160, pp. 720–739, Oct. 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S036054421831288X
- [166] N. Stream, "Nord Stream Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Documentation for Consultation under the Espoo Convention," Gazprom, Switzerland, Tech. Rep., 2009. [Online]. Available: https://www.nord-stream.com/press-info/library/?q=espoo&category=&type=&country=
- [167] ACER, "Repurposing existing gas infrastructure to pure hydrogen: ACER finds divergent visions of the future," European Union Agency for the Cooperation of Energy Regulators, Slovenia, Tech. Rep., 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.acer.europa.eu/events-and-engagement/news/ repurposing-existing-gas-infrastructure-pure-hydrogen-acer-finds
- [168] NSE, "Regulatory Framework: Legal Challenges for Offshore System Integration in Energy Hubs," Elspeet, Apr. 2022.
- [169] L. M. Andreasson and M. Roggenkamp, "Regulatory Framework: Legal Challenges and Incentives for Developing Hydrogen Offshore," North Sea Energy, Tech. Rep., 2020. [Online]. Available: https://north-sea-energy.eu/static/1f13bd895cfa3e630af1bb277f2630f2/11.-FINAL-NSE3_D2.2-D2. 3-Analysis-of-legal-basis-for-offshore-hydrogen-planning-and-Legal-assessment.pdf
- [170] UN, "United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea," pp. 1–202, 1982. [Online]. Available: https://www.un.org/depts/los/convention_agreements/texts/unclos/unclos_e.pdf
- [171] P. Enet, "The implications of the ocean governance framework established by the United Nations for the implementation of the EU MSP Directive: background technical study." European Commission, Luxembourg, Tech. Rep., 2022. [Online]. Available: https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2926/135072
- [172] UN, "Convention on Environmental Impact Assessment in a Transboundary Context," Feb. 1991. [Online]. Available: https://treaties.un.org/pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=IND&mtdsg_no=XXVII-4&chapter= 27&clang=_en
- [173] R. S. Middleton, M. J. Kuby, and J. M. Bielicki, "Generating candidate networks for optimization: The CO2 capture and storage optimization problem," *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 18–29, Jan. 2012. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0198971511000871
- [174] Arup, "Future offshore wind scenarios: an assessment of deployment drivers," Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy, Tech. Rep., 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.futureoffshorewindscenarios. co.uk/assets/report/20220421_FOW_Final_Report.pdf
- [175] B. für Seeschifffahrt und Hydrographie, "Maritime Spatial Plan 2021," 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.bsh.de/EN/TOPICS/Offshore/Maritime_spatial_planning/Maritime_Spatial_Plan_2021/ maritime-spatial-plan-2021_node.html
- [176] C. Jönsson, "Personal communication on MSP practices in the United Kingdom EEZ." May 2022.
- [177] P. Enet, "Personal communication on MSP practices in the NS." Jun. 2022.
- [178] J. Ø. Jakobsen, "Personal communication on MSP practices in the Danish EEZ." Jun. 2022.
- [179] L. F. Guşatu, C. Yamu, C. Zuidema, and A. Faaij, "A Spatial Analysis of the Potentials for Offshore Wind Farm Locations in the North Sea Region: Challenges and Opportunities," *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information*, vol. 9, no. 2, p. 96, Feb. 2020, number: 2 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute. [Online]. Available: https://www.mdpi.com/2220-9964/9/2/96
- [180] E. Caceoğlu, H. K. Yildiz, E. Oğuz, N. Huvaj, and J. M. Guerrero, "Offshore wind power plant site selection using Analytical Hierarchy Process for Northwest Turkey," *Ocean Engineering*, vol. 252, p. 111178, May 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0029801822005844

- [181] A. Reda, A. Rawlinson, I. A. Sultan, M. A. Elgazzar, and I. M. Howard, "Guidelines for safe cable crossing over a pipeline," *Applied Ocean Research*, vol. 102, p. 102284, Sep. 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0141118720301152
- [182] K. bulletin, "Bulletin hazard alerts from Kingfisher," 2021. [Online]. Available: https://kingfisherbulletin. org/notice-map?&&&point=
- [183] H. Antikainen, "Comparison of Different Strategies for Determining Raster-Based Least-Cost Paths with a Minimum Amount of Distortion," *Transactions in GIS*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 96–108, 2013, _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1467-9671.2012.01355.x. [Online]. Available: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1467-9671.2012.01355.x
- [184] R. M. Askarov, A. K. Gumerov, and K. S. Shamilov, "Analysis of Longitudinal Stresses in Main Pipelines with a Long Operating Life," *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, vol. 459, no. 4, p. 042047, Apr. 2020, publisher: IOP Publishing. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/459/4/042047
- [185] D. M. L. d. Silva, M. V. Rodrigues, A. Venaas, and A. R. d. Medeiros, "Methodology for definition of bending radius and pullback force in HDD (Horizontal Directional Drilling) operations," Rio de Janeiro, Dec. 2009, pp. 1–8. [Online]. Available: https://www.osti.gov/etdeweb/servlets/purl/21245434
- [186] J. Y. Kang and B. S. Lee, "Optimisation of pipeline route in the presence of obstacles based on a least cost path algorithm and laplacian smoothing," *International Journal of Naval Architecture and Ocean Engineering*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 492–498, Sep. 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S209267821630694X
- [187] P. W. Heijnen, A. Ligtvoet, R. M. Stikkelman, and P. M. Herder, "Maximising the Worth of Nascent Networks," *Networks and Spatial Economics*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 27–46, Mar. 2014. [Online]. Available: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11067-013-9199-1
- [188] D. Van Tongeren, Master's thesis, TU Delft.
- [189] E.-o. F. Klima, "Bred aftale om Nordsøens fremtid," Klima-, Energi- og Forsyningsministeriet, Tech. Rep., 2020. [Online]. Available: https://via.ritzau.dk/pressemeddelelse/bred-aftale-om-nordsoens-fremtid? publisherId=9426318&releaseId=13605632
- [190] B. Geyer, R. Weisse, P. Bisling, and J. Winterfeldt, "Climatology of North Sea wind energy derived from a model hindcast for 1958–2012," *Journal of Wind Engineering and Industrial Aerodynamics*, vol. 147, pp. 18–29, Dec. 2015. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167610515002214
- [191] C. J. Quarton and S. Samsatli, "Should we inject hydrogen into gas grids? Practicalities and whole-system value chain optimisation," *Applied Energy*, vol. 275, p. 115172, Oct. 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S030626192030684X
- [192] M. v. d. Spek, C. Banet, C. Bauer, P. Gabrielli, W. Goldthorpe, M. Mazzotti, S. T. Munkejord, N. A. Røkke, N. Shah, N. Sunny, D. Sutter, J. M. Trusler, and M. Gazzani, "Perspective on the hydrogen economy as a pathway to reach net-zero CO2 emissions in Europe," *Energy & Environmental Science*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 1034–1077, Mar. 2022, publisher: The Royal Society of Chemistry. [Online]. Available: https://pubs.rsc.org/en/content/articlelanding/2022/ee/d1ee02118d
- [193] Gasunie, "Gasunie start met aanleg waterstofnetwerk Nederland," 2022. [Online]. Available: https: //www.gasunie.nl/nieuws/gasunie-start-met-aanleg-waterstofnetwerk-nederland
- [194] C. Whitman, S. Yaw, B. Hoover, and R. Middleton, "Scalable algorithms for designing CO2 capture and storage infrastructure," *Optimization and Engineering*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 1057–1083, Jun. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11081-021-09621-3

- [195] Y. G. Melese, P. W. Heijnen, R. M. Stikkelman, and P. M. Herder, "An Approach for Integrating Valuable Flexibility During Conceptual Design of Networks," *Networks and Spatial Economics*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 317–341, Jun. 2017. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11067-016-9328-8
- [196] O. of Energy, "Oceans of Energy," 2022. [Online]. Available: https://oceansofenergy.blue/
- [197] F. C. a. H. Observatory, "Hydrogen Demand," 2022. [Online]. Available: https://fchobservatory.eu/ observatory/technology-and-market/hydrogen-demand
- [198] ENTSOG and ENTSO-E, "TYNDP 2022 Scenario Report," TYNDP, Tech. Rep., 2022. [Online]. Available: https://2022.entsos-tyndp-scenarios.eu/download/

Appendix

A Models

The cost surface model and candidate networks model are used in PyQgis. The scripts for both models are provided and stored by the University.

The ONL network model from Heijnen et al., [129] was provided by the author, and was downloaded on request from a TU Delft repository. Specifically, the model was adapted to suit the needs of this work.

- Module: *user interface* Addition of a new binary variable '*routecosts*', set to True or False.
- Module: *general procedures* Variable *routecosts* added to following submodules: *existing* connections from file, routing network, draw routing, complete routing length graph, euclidean length graph, add routing path.
 - Submodule: routing network weight between nodes set as route costs if routecosts = True.
 - Submodule: routing length graph weight between edges set as Dijkstra path length.
 - NEW submodule: total real cost calculates cost based on length of edges, not the weight defined, in order to get a distance based cost. Similar to total cost submodule, but defined graph as an euclidean weighted graph first.
- Module: *step 3 initial topology* Variable *routecosts* added to following submodules: *initial network, min length steiner tree, ming length steiner tree with existing, steiner tree 2.*
- Module: *step 4 minimum cost spanning tree* Variable *routecosts* added to following submodules: *min cost spanning tree, next delta tree.*
- NEW module: *step 7 qgis* final result (NetworkX graph) is converted to a pandas dataframe. Node attributes from the final results are also converted to a different dataframe. Both dataframes are merged based on the source and target values. These intermediate results are exported to csv. Using the the x, y, x1 and y1 values (two points in space), linestrings are created. Using these sets of linestrings, a geodataframe is created, which is then exported as a shapefile.

To sense-check the new binary variable in the model, it was analysed on small sample data, as shown in Figure 37. As the figure shows, the *routecosts* variable was added correctly.



Figure 37: ONL sense-check, using the new routecosts variable. In a, the model is ran with routecosts = True, but with the edge weights are set as euclidean distance. In b, the model is ran again with no weights (meaning the euclidean distance is used), showing the same result. In c, routecosts = True and a very high weight is applied to the node connection of 3-14, resulting in a change in the network. In d, routecost = False, resulting in the euclidean distances being used again and the result being the same as a and b.

B Data collection

B.1 One-pager

Figure 38 below shows the one-pager that was sent to the MSP authorities to attempt to collect inputs for the weighing values of spatial uses.



Figure 38: One-pager which was sent to marine authorities of NS-region countries.

B.2 Interviews

Meeting 10-5-22 [176] Carl Jönsson (UK – MMO), Steffan Brosschot.

- Crown Estate Owners of the subsea in the English marine area. Have a data portal with all available data.
- Marine spatial plans (led by policy documents) tell a lot about the compatibility of certain areas with each other.
- Defence (military) areas are missing some data. See English Marine Plans page 252 for defence area.
- General comment MMO normally look at a wider view, including community issues (of landing points), as well as tourism and others. The MMO try to expand the scope to a societal view.
- On the weighing values:
 - The UK do not prioritise areas. They take a more holistic view of things which are compatible or not compatible. Spatial uses are thought more in terms of soft and hard uses, where soft means it is more compatible.
 - Ecology seems to be quite high in current numbers. Is important, but has been in previous modelling considered a soft use.
 - Sand & aggregate extraction considered a hard use, not very compatible with laying infrastructure and should be higher.
 - Military no comments.
 - Reusing corridors Are heavily protected. Not easily reused. However, government are looking to increase the co-location and co-existence of activities. So reusing corridors could very likely be an option in the future.

Meeting 8-6-22 [177, 178] Jesper Jakobsen (Denmark – DMA), Patrycja Enet (European MSP Platform, MSP Assistance Mechanism North Sea Focal Point), Steffan Brosschot.

- Danger and exercise areas are available in the marine spatial plan now.
- It is challenging to provide specific comments on the weighing values
 - Need all agencies to be involved
 - Too early to provide details and comments, because the agencies do not know how much of an effect such infrastructure installations would have on the agencies. More information is needed on how the network would affect the spatial uses.

- Executive orders in the MSP as well as the MSP zones distribution can provide more information on the prioritisation of areas.
 - $-\,$ Page 33 of the explanatory notes.
 - https://havplan.dk/en/page/info

B.3 Techno-economic data



Figure 39 below displays the conversion from inch to capacity used in this study [136]. The lower value of 20 m/s was used (red line).

Figure 39: Pipeline inch to capacity conversion [136].

Figure 40 shows the relationship between cable capacity and cost, showing a linear relationship. This is why the cost-capacity coefficient of cables is given a value of 1 in the methodology of the ONL model.

Figure 41 below shows the average pipeline cost comparison of the dataset source used in this study with the Danish Energy Agency [151], for the same range of capacities. The values are very similar.

Figure 42 shows the cost differences between the electrical infrastructure cost values used in this study, and the cost values defined by Härtel et al., [154]. Specifically, the values are compared to the average parameter set that is defined, as well as the dataset costs including the average error. The graph shows that the values are roughly similar to the datasets.



Figure 40: Relationship between cable capacity and costs. Derived from internal TNO data on existing projects [21].



Figure 41: Hydrogen pipeline cost comparison from NSE TNO data to the Danish Energy Agency (in $M \in /GW/km$).



Figure 42: HVDC cable cost comparison. % Deviation of NSE TNO data from Härtel et al., [154]. The average dataset is taken as well as the change in dataset when considering the average error of components, as calculated in the study.

B.4 Hydrogen demand

As the comparison in Table 14 below shows, the values in the compared studies are quite similar to the ones assumed for UK, Norway, Belgium and Denmark in this study. However, for Germany and the Netherlands, the roles have been reversed. This is due to demand only being taken from the coastal areas of all countries for this study, meaning much of the inland demand in Germany is not taken into account (see Figure 43). It is assumed here that the inland hydrogen demand is provided from elsewhere.

Table 14: Comparison of spatial differences in hydrogen demand per country from studies to this study. Values in italic are estimated based on the FCOH current use.

	Source									
Country	Fuel	Cells	EHB	2050	TYN	DP	TYN	DP	This st	udy
	&	Hy-	[161]		\mathbf{GA}	2050	DE	2050	[153]	
	drogen				[198]		[198]			
	Obset	rva-								
	tory	[197]								
Belgium	10%		9%		10%		8%		2%	
Denmark	1%		2%		2%		3%		2%	
Germany	41%		46%		57%		53%		21%	
Netherlands	31%		13%		14%		19%		61%	
Norway	5%		5%		5%		5%		1%	
UK	12%		24%		12%		12%		13%	



Figure 43: Hydrogen demand in 2050 per NUTS-2 level in the EHB report [161].

B.5 Spatial uses

Table 15: Table of spatial uses used in study with sources. Data gathered during internship project for TNO.

Data	Countries	Last edit	Links
Offshore oil &	A11	29-11-2021	TNO internal (NSE Atlas)
gas pipelines			
Ecology	A11	30-11-2021	TNO internal (NSE Atlas)
			https://kartkatalog.miljodirektoratet.no/Dataset/Details/702
Sand extrac- tion	All (except N)	2-12-2021	TNO internal (NSE Atlas)
			https://www.emodnet-humanactivities.eu/view-data.php
			https://overpass-turbo.eu/
			https://environment.data.gov.uk/DefraDataDownload/?mapService=
			MMO/MarineLicencesAndApplicationsPolygon&Mode=spatial
			https://www.bsh.de/EN/TOPICS/Offshore/Maritime_spatial_planning/
			maritime_spatial_planning_node.html
Military areas	All (except D, F)	1-5-2022	TNO internal (NSE Atlas)
			https://www.emodnet-humanactivities.eu/view-data.php
			https://overpass-turbo.eu/
			https://www.bsh.de/EN/TOPICS/Offshore/Maritime_spatial_planning/
			maritime_spatial_planning_node.html
			https://marine.gov.scot/maps/nmpi
			https://kartkatalog.geonorge.no/
Shipping routes	All	30-11-2021	TNO internal (NSE Atlas)
			https://www.emodnet-humanactivities.eu/view-data.php
			https://overpass-turbo.eu/
			- https://environment.data.gov.uk/DefraDataDownload/?mapService=
			MMO/HighDensityNavigationRoutes&Mode=spatial
			https://www.bsh.de/EN/TOPICS/Offshore/Maritime_spatial_planning/
			maritime_spatial_planning_node.html
			https://datahub.admiralty.co.uk/portal/home/index.html
			https://environment.data.gov.uk/DefraDataDownload/?mapService=
			MMO/ImportantNavigationRoutesPS2&Mode=spatial
Offshore elec- tricity grid	All	1-5-2022	TNO internal (NSE Atlas)
			https://www.emodnet-humanactivities.eu/view-data.php
			https://www.4coffshore.com/windfarms/
Preferred cable and pipeline	All (except F, N)	24-11-2021	https://www.emodnet-humanactivities.eu/view-data.php
Touros			https://environment.data.gov.uk/DefraDataDownload/?mapService=
			MMO/MarineLicencesAndApplicationsPolygon&Mode=spatial
			https://www.bsh.de/EN/TOPICS/Offshore/Maritime_spatial_planning/
			maritime_spatial_planning_node.html
			https://maps.rijkswaterstaat.nl/dataregister/srv/eng/catalog.
			- search#/metadata/a41aee23-b7f6-4591-b9dc-5b51b0730a44
			https://www.havochvatten.se/planering-forvaltning-och-samverkan
			havsplanering/havsplaner/ladda-ned.html
Offshore wind farms (Sources)	All	1-5-2022	TNO internal (NSE Atlas)
(2341000)			https://www.emodnet-humanactivities_eu/vieu-data_php
			https://marine.gov.scot/maps/pmpi
			https://www.4coffshore.com/windfarms/
			https://www.netzentwicklungsplan.de/de
			https://ens.dk/service/statistik-data-noegletal-og-kort/
			download-gis-filer
			- o https://ens.dk/ansvarsomraader/vindenergi/fakta-om-vindenergi
			http://www.nve.no/energi/energisystem/vindkraft/
0.1	4.11	1 5 0000	vindkraft-til-havs/
Onshore pipeline dock- ing points (Sinks)	All	1-5-2022	

C Other results

C.1 Cost surfaces

Figure 44 and 45 show the cost surfaces used for scenarios.



Figure 44: Cost surfaces for scenarios HSpa (left) and ESpa (right).



Figure 45: Cost surfaces for scenarios HIInt and HIIso (left) and EIInt and EIIso (right).

C.2 Optimal networks



Figure 46 below shows the results of the integrated scenarios.

Figure 46: Resulting networks from the integrated scenarios (scenario name is stated on each figure).

C.3 Total infrastructure capacity lengths

Table 16 below shows the total infrastructure capacity lengths (TICL) in TWkm for the interconnected scenarios and the isolated scenarios.

		Scenario						
System	Country	IInt			IIso			
		TICL	TICL	TICL	TICL	TICL	TICL	
		(TWkm)	(Reused)	(Cor-	(TWkm)	(Reused)	(Corri-	
			(TWkm)	ridors)			$\operatorname{dors})$	
				(TWkm)				
Hydrogen	NL	23	10	9	13	4	5	
	DE	11	2	7	7	3	3	
	DK	4	0	4	1	0	0	
	NO	26	16	8	3	2	0	
	UK	29	17	8	24	9	13	
Electricity	NL	22		14	14		4	
	DE	9		7	7			
	DK	22		16	2		1	
	NO	18		13	1		1	
	UK	10		2	17		13	

Table 16: TICL result comparison for interconnected IInt vs isolated IIso per country.
C.4 Levelized cost of hydrogen



Figure 47 shows the complete LCOH breakdown for all scenarios.

Figure 47: Full breakdown of LCOH from every scenario.